

European Commission against Racism and Intolerance Commission européenne contre le racisme et l'intolérance

CRI(2014)36

ECRI REPORT ON BULGARIA

(fifth monitoring cycle)

Adopted on 19 June 2014

Published on 16 September 2014



ECRI Secretariat Directorate General II - Democracy Council of Europe F-67075 STRASBOURG Cedex Tel.: + 33 (0) 3 90 21 46 62 Fax: + 33 (0) 3 88 41 39 87 E-mail: ecri@coe.int

www.coe.int/ecri

ECRI REPORT ON BULGARIA (fifth monitoring cycle)

Adopted on 19 June 2014

Published on 16 September 2014

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD			
SUMMARY			9
FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS			11
Ι.		COMMON TOPICS	11
	1.	LEGISLATION AGAINST RACISM AND RACIAL DISCRIMINATION	
	-	PROTOCOL NO. 12 TO THE EUROPEAN CONVENTION ON HUMAN RIGHTS	11
	-	CRIMINAL LAW	11
	-	CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE LAW	13
	-	INDEPENDENT AUTHORITIES	14
	2.	HATE SPEECH	-
	-	RACISM IN POLITICAL AND OTHER FORMS OF PUBLIC DISCOURSE	-
	-	RACISM ON THE INTERNET AND IN THE MEDIA	
	-	THE AUTHORITIES' RESPONSE	-
	3.	RACIST AND HOMO/TRANSPHOBIC VIOLENCE	-
	-	THE AUTHORITIES' RESPONSE	
	4.		
	-	ETHNIC, RELIGIOUS AND LINGUISTIC MINORITIES	
	-	NON-NATIONALS POLICIES' RESULTS	
	-		
II.		TOPICS SPECIFIC TO BULGARIA	
	1.	INTERIM FOLLOW-UP RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE FOURTH CYCLE	
	-	TRAINING IN RACIAL DISCRIMINATION ISSUES	24
	-	FUNCTIONING OF THE COMMISSION FOR PROTECTION AGAINST	25
		DISCRIMINATION THE INTEGRATION OF ROMA CHILDREN INTO MAINSTREAM SCHOOLS	
	- 2.	REFUGEES AND ASYLUM SEEKERS	
	2. 3.	POLICIES TO COMBAT DISCRIMINATION AND INTOLERANCE AGAINST	21
	0.	LGBT PERSONS	28
	-	LEGISLATIVE ISSUES	-
	-	DATA	
	-	PROMOTING TOLERANCE AND COMBATING DISCRIMINATION	
INTER	IM F	OLLOW-UP RECOMMENDATIONS	33
LIST C	LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS		
	BIBLIOGRAPHY		
APPENDIX: GOVERNMENT'S VIEWPOINT			

Foreword

The European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI), established by the Council of Europe, is an independent human rights monitoring body specialised in questions relating to racism and intolerance. It is composed of independent and impartial members appointed on the basis of their moral authority and recognised expertise in dealing with racism, xenophobia, anti-Semitism and intolerance.

In the framework of its statutory activities, ECRI conducts country-by-country monitoring work, which analyses the situation in each of the member States regarding racism and intolerance and draws up suggestions and proposals for dealing with the problems identified.

ECRI's country-by-country monitoring deals with all member States of the Council of Europe on an equal footing. The work takes place in 5-year cycles, covering 9-10 countries per year. The reports of the first round were completed at the end of 1998, those of the second round at the end of 2002 and those of the third round at the end of 2007, and those of the fourth round will be completed at the beginning of 2014. Work on the fifth round reports started in November 2012.

The working methods for the preparation of the reports involve documentary analyses, a visit to the country concerned, and then a confidential dialogue with the national authorities.

ECRI's reports are not the result of inquiries or testimonial evidence. They are analyses based on a great deal of information gathered from a wide variety of sources. Documentary studies are based on a large number of national and international written sources. The in situ visit provides the opportunity to meet with the parties directly concerned (both governmental and non-governmental) with a view to gathering detailed information. The process of confidential dialogue with the national authorities allows the latter to provide, if they consider it necessary, comments on the draft report, with a view to correcting any possible factual errors which the report might contain. At the end of the dialogue, the national authorities may request, if they so wish, that their viewpoints be appended to the final ECRI report.

The fifth round country-by-country reports focus on four topics common to all member States: (1) Legislative issues, (2) Hate speech, (3) Violence, (4) Integration policies and a number of topics specific to each one of them. The fourth-cycle interim recommendations not implemented or partially implemented during the fourth monitoring cycle will be followed up in this connection.

In the framework of the fifth cycle, priority implementation is requested again for two specific recommendations chosen from those made in the report. A process of interim follow-up for these two recommendations will be conducted by ECRI no later than two years following the publication of this report.

The following report was drawn up by ECRI under its own responsibility. It covers the situation at 21 March 2014; developments since that date are neither covered in the following analysis nor taken into account in the conclusions and proposals therein.

SUMMARY

Since the adoption of ECRI's fourth report on Bulgaria on 20 June 2008, progress has been made in a number of fields.

Amendments to the Criminal Code introduced enhanced penalties for murder and causing bodily harm committed with hooligan, racist or xenophobic motives.

In March 2012, the Bulgarian Parliament approved a National Roma Integration Strategy (NRIS). It requires every region to develop and adopt a regional strategy and action plan for the integration of Roma up to the year 2020.

A National Strategy on Migration, Asylum and Integration was adopted for the years 2011 to 2020. It aims to establish an effective national migration and integration management policy.

Amendments to the Public Education Act introduced obligatory pre-schooling for two years, with the objective of ensuring an equal start for every child and early socialisation and development of skills required for entry to the first grade.

The Centre for Educational Integration of Children and Pupils from Ethnic Minorities continues to fund projects in schools, kindergartens and municipalities which focus on providing equal access to quality education for children from ethnic minority groups, as well as preserving and developing their cultural identity.

A change in the law in 2012 allows illegally built houses to be legalised and no longer subject to demolition leaving Roma families homeless.

ECRI welcomes these positive developments in Bulgaria. However, despite the progress achieved, some issues give rise to concern.

The authorities have not introduced a provision in the Criminal Code making racist motivation an aggravating circumstance for all criminal offences. Bulgarian legislation does not provide for an obligation to supress public financing of organisations or political parties which promote racism. Hate speech or violence targeting sexual orientation or gender identity is not recognised as an offence in the Criminal Code.

Racist and intolerant hate speech in political discourse is escalating; the main target is now refugees. In the media and on Internet, expressions of racism and xenophobia against foreigners, Turks and Muslims are commonplace, as is abusive language when referring to Roma. There is also a significant amount of hate speech targeting sexual orientation. A growing number of ultra-nationalist/fascist groups and political parties operate in Bulgaria.

The authorities rarely voice any counter-hate speech message to the public. Few cases of hate speech have reached court and the conviction rate is low. The system in place for sanctioning violations of the relevant legislation relating to media services is ineffective.

Racist violence continues to be perpetrated against Roma, Muslims, Jews and nontraditional religious groups and their property. It is seldom prosecuted under the criminal law provisions specifically enacted for this purpose; very often hooliganism is invoked instead.

The Bulgarian NRIS lacks mechanisms for collecting and disseminating disaggregated data and fails to provide for sufficient funding. Consequently, few positive results have been achieved so far.

Low achievement in education persists and drop-out rates continue to be disproportionately high among Roma pupils. Surveys demonstrate that discriminatory attitudes are endemic in the Bulgarian educational system.

The National Programme for the Integration of Refugees does not function well, primarily due to lack of adequate funding. The decision of the Government in October 2013 to build a temporary 30km-long barrier fence on the border with Turkey could jeopardise Bulgaria's international obligations.

There is no official data on the LGBT population in Bulgaria and no specific legislation regulating gender reassignment.

In this report, ECRI requests that the authorities take further action in a number of areas; in this context, it makes a series of recommendations, including the following.

Bulgaria should ratify Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights as soon as possible.

The authorities should insert a provision in the Criminal Code expressly stating that racist motivation for any ordinary offence constitutes an aggravating circumstance. Sexual orientation and gender identity should be included in all the articles of the Criminal Code addressing hate speech and hate crime.

The Anti-discrimination Act should be amended to include gender identity as a ground of discrimination. It should also include an obligation to suppress public financing of organisations or political parties which promote racism.

The Commission for Protection against Discrimination should produce and publish information about discrimination, and explaining the procedures for discrimination complaints, in a variety of languages used in the country and disseminate it widely^{*}.

The Council for Electronic Media should be encouraged to take action in all cases of dissemination of hate speech. It should raise the fines for violations of the provisions of the Radio and Television Act relating to hate speech so that they act as a real deterrent and make greater use of the possibility of revoking broadcasting licences where appropriate.

The Bulgarian authorities should urgently organise an awareness-raising campaign promoting a positive image of and tolerance for asylum seekers and refugees and ensuring that the public understands the need for international protection.

Adequate funding should be allocated for the effective implementation of the NRIS.

The authorities should work closely with the UNHCR to extend in time and improve the integration package for refugees. They should remove any border fences which create physical barriers to refugees seeking international protection.

Legislation should be developed on gender recognition and gender reassignment, in line with international standards and expertise. An action plan should be adopted to combat homophobia and transphobia in all areas of everyday life, including education, employment and health care.

^{*} This recommendation will be subject to a process of interim follow-up by ECRI no later than two years after the publication of this report.

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

- I. Common topics
- 1. Legislation against racism¹ and racial discrimination²
- Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights
- 1. In both its third and fourth reports, ECRI recommended that Bulgaria ratify Protocol No. 12 as soon as possible. Bulgaria has still neither signed nor ratified this instrument. No explanation was given as to any possible obstacles. ECRI was informed only that the authorities were waiting to see how the case law of the European Court of Human Rights developed before committing themselves. ECRI points out that the notion of discrimination has been interpreted consistently in the case law of the European Court of Human Rights. The Court has said that it does not see any reason to depart, in the context of Article 1 of Protocol No. 12, from this settled interpretation³. ECRI considers ratification of this instrument, which provides for a general prohibition of discrimination, to be vital in combating racism and racial discrimination.
- 2. ECRI reiterates its recommendation that Bulgaria ratifies Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights as soon as possible.
- Criminal law⁴
- 3. Article 162 (1) of the Criminal Code criminalises the advocating of or incitement to discrimination, hatred or violence based on race or national or ethnic origin through speech, print or other mass media, electronic information systems or other means. Article 162 (2) criminalises the use of violence against another person or damage to his/her property on account of his/her race, national or ethnic origin, religion or political opinion. Article 162 (3) covers the leadership of an organisation or group that aims to commit the acts under Article 162 (1) and (2). Membership in such an organisation or group is criminalised under Article 162 (4). Article 163 punishes those who participate in a crowd to attack the population, individuals or their property on account of their national, ethnic or racial affiliation.
- 4. ECRI notes that the list of grounds under Articles 162 (1) and 163 do not include religion. Although preaching hatred on religious grounds through speeches, publications or other media, electronic information systems or otherwise is punished under Article 164 (1), there is no reference in this provision to incitement to religious discrimination or violence. In addition, colour⁵, language and citizenship are also not mentioned as grounds in Articles 162 and 163. ECRI was assured by the authorities that colour, as a component of "race", would be

¹ According to ECRI's General Policy Recommendation (GPR) No.7, "racism" shall mean the belief that a ground such as "race", colour, language, religion, nationality or national or ethnic origin justifies contempt for a person or a group of persons, or the notion of superiority of a person or a group of persons.

² According to GPR No. 7 "racial discrimination" shall mean any differential treatment based on a ground such as "race", colour, language, religion, nationality or national or ethnic origin, which has no objective and reasonable justification.

³ Case of Maktouf and Damjanović v. Bosnia and Herzegovina [GC], nos. 2012/08 and 34179/08, 18 July 2013, § 81.

⁴ Criminal law aspects relating to LGBT issues are dealt with in the section on Topics specific to Bulgaria -Policies to combat discrimination and intolerance against LGBT persons.

⁵ See also the Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the Implementation of Council Framework Decision 2008/913/JHA on combating certain forms and expressions of racism and xenophobia by means of criminal law, Brussels, 27.1.2014, COM(2014) 27 final.

covered, and language would be covered under national or ethnic origin. ECRI considers, nevertheless, that these elements should be specifically mentioned, as per its GPR No. 7 § 18 a.

- 5. ECRI recommends that the gaps in the protection offered under Article 164 (1) of the Criminal Code should be filled and that religion should be included as a ground in Articles 162 (1) and 163. Colour, language and citizenship should be included as grounds for the commission of the offences set out in Articles 162 and 163.
- 6. ECRI notes also that the Criminal Codes covers, in Article 144, threats against a person or his/her property, but it does not specifically criminalise threats against a person or grouping of persons on the grounds of their race, colour, language, religion, nationality, or national or ethnic origin, as per GPR No. 7 § 18 c.
- ECRI recommends that the offence of threats against a person or group of persons on the grounds of their race, colour, language, religion, nationality or national or ethnic origin be included in the Criminal Code.
- 8. ECRI further notes that there is no reference to the public expression, with a racist aim, of an ideology which claims the superiority of, or which depreciates or denigrates, a grouping of persons on the grounds of their race, colour, language, religion, nationality, or national or ethnic origin, as it called for in its GPR No. 7 § 18 d.
- 9. ECRI recommends that the Criminal Code be amended to include a provision against the public expression, with a racist aim, of an ideology which claims the superiority of, or which depreciates or denigrates, a grouping of persons on the grounds of their race, colour, language, religion, nationality, or national or ethnic origin.
- 10. ECRI's GPR No. 7 § 18 h recommends States to criminalise racial discrimination in the exercise of one's public office or occupation. As far as ECRI is aware, this element does not appear in the Bulgarian Criminal Code.
- 11. ECRI recommends that racial discrimination in the exercise of one's public office or occupation be criminalised.
- 12. Moreover, in respect of the above-mentioned offences, ECRI notes that legal persons cannot be held criminally responsible, contrary to GPR No. 7 § 22. However, administrative sanctions (fines) can be imposed on legal persons under the Act on Administrative Violations and Sanctions.
- 13. ECRI encourages the authorities to consider the possibility of providing for the criminal liability of legal persons for racially motivated offences.
- 14. In its fourth report, ECRI again recommended that the Bulgarian authorities insert a provision in the Criminal Code expressly stating that racist motivation for any ordinary offence constitutes an aggravating circumstance. The authorities informed ECRI that when amendments were made to the Criminal Code in 2009 and 2011, higher penalties were introduced for the specific offences motivated by racism under Article 162 rather than introducing racist motivation as an aggravating circumstance for all offences. Moreover, following the amendments of 2011, specific enhanced penalties for murder committed with hooligan, racist or xenophobic motives (Article 116 (1) subsection 11) and causing bodily harm with hooligan, racist or xenophobic motives (Article 131 (1) subsection 12) were introduced. While these provisions represent a step forward, they are still not fully

in line with ECRI's GPR No. 7 § 21 which provides that racist motivation for all criminal offences should constitute an aggravating circumstance⁶.

15. ECRI once again recommends that the Bulgarian authorities insert a provision in the Criminal Code expressly stating that racist motivation for any ordinary offence constitutes an aggravating circumstance.

- Civil and administrative law⁷

- 16. The Anti-discrimination Act of 2004 (amended in 2006 and 2012) regulates protection against all forms of discrimination. ECRI notes with satisfaction that it is widely considered to be a very good law. The analysis below focuses only on areas which could be improved in order for it to function as a comprehensive and effective tool against racial discrimination.
- 17. Article 4 clearly defines direct and indirect discrimination "on the grounds of sex, race, nationality, ethnic origin, citizenship, religion or belief, education, opinions, political belonging, personal or public status, disability, age, sexual orientation, marital status, property status, or on any other grounds established by the law, or by international treaties to which the Republic of Bulgaria is a party". ECRI notes that there is no specific reference to colour and language, as per its GPR No. 7 § 1. Although the authorities confirmed that colour would be covered under "race" and language could be covered under the headings of nationality, ethnic origin or citizenship, ECRI considers that, on the basis of the general principle of legal certainty, these elements should be expressly mentioned in the article (see also §§ 4-5 of this report).
- 18. ECRI recommends that colour and language be included as grounds in Article 4 of the Anti-discrimination Act, in accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 § 1.
- 19. ECRI notes that Article 5 of the Act prohibits, inter alia, harassment, incitement to discriminate and racial segregation. However, there is no reference to discrimination by association and announced intention to discriminate, which, according to ECRI's GPR No. 7 § 6, should also be considered by law as forms of discrimination⁸.
- 20. ECRI recommends that discrimination by association and announced intention to discriminate be included as forms of discrimination in the Anti-discrimination Act.
- 21. ECRI further notes that there is no mention in the Act on the placing of public authorities under a duty to ensure that those parties to whom they award contracts, loans, grants or other benefits respect and promote a policy of non-discrimination, as recommended in its GPR No. 7 § 9⁹. ECRI considers that the law should also provide that the violation of this condition may result in the termination of the contract, grant or other benefits.
- 22. ECRI recommends that the Anti-discrimination Act expressly mentions that public authorities are under a duty to ensure that those parties to whom they award contracts, loans, grants or other benefits respect and promote a policy of non-

⁶ Article 54 of the Criminal Code on sentencing does not mention racist motivation as an aggravating circumstance.

⁷ Civil and administrative law aspects relating to LGBT issues are dealt with in the section on Topics specific to Bulgaria - Policies to combat discrimination and intolerance against LGBT persons.

⁸ ECRI refers to the Explanatory Memorandum to its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, §§ 15-16.

⁹ ECRI also refers to its General Policy Recommendation No. 14 on combating racism and racial discrimination in employment, § 1(f), and to the explanatory memorandum section on public procurement.

discrimination and that the violation of such condition may result in the termination of the contract, grant or other benefits.

- 23. The Act does not provide for discriminatory provisions which are included in individual or collective contracts or agreements, internal regulations of enterprises, rules governing profit-making or non-profit-making associations, and rules governing the independent professions and workers' and employers' organisations, to be amended or declared null and void, as per ECRI's GPR No. 7 § 14.
- 24. ECRI recommends that a provision be inserted into the Anti-discrimination Act to the effect that discriminatory provisions which are included in individual or collective contracts or agreements, internal regulations of enterprises, rules governing profit-making or non-profit-making associations, and rules governing the independent professions and workers' and employers' organisations, should be amended or declared null and void.
- 25. Finally, ECRI notes that neither the Anti-discrimination Act nor other legislation (such as the Political Parties Act) provide for an obligation to supress public financing of organisations or political parties which promote racism, as recommended in its GPR No. 7 § 16. ECRI considers that such a provision is very important and would be much needed in Bulgaria (see ECRI's findings on racism in political discourse highlighted in the section on Hate speech).
- 26. ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities insert a provision into the Antidiscrimination Act providing for an obligation to suppress public financing of organisations or political parties which promote racism.

- Independent authorities

- 27. The Commission for Protection against Discrimination (hereafter the Commission) was set up in 2005. It is, according to Article 40 of the Antidiscrimination Act, "an independent specialised state body for prevention of discrimination, protection against discrimination and ensuring equal opportunities".
- 28. As concerns independence, according to Article 41 (1) of the Act, five of the nine members of the Commission, including the Chair and Deputy Chair, are elected by Parliament and four members are appointed by the President. Since the Act contains no express ban on members receiving instructions, ECRI considers that there are insufficient guarantees as to the independence of the Commission as a whole. Despite assurances that the members, who include former members of Parliament, fulfil their tasks and operate in a politically independent manner, ECRI is of the view that the Act should contain a provision expressly stating that they may not receive instructions.
- 29. ECRI recommends that a provision be inserted into the Anti-discrimination Act expressly prohibiting members of the Commission for Protection against Discrimination from receiving instructions.
- 30. ECRI notes that the provisions of the Anti-discrimination Act relating to the Commission (§§ 40-70) are in line with its GPR No. 2 on specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at the national level. The only element which is not specifically mentioned in the Act is the competence to promote and contribute to the training of certain key groups, but ECRI is aware that this is carried out in practice. The provisions of the Act also align with ECRI's GPR No. 7 § 24 which calls for the establishment of a specialised body to combat racism and racial discrimination and sets out its competences. ECRI concludes with satisfaction that, apart from one aspect on which it has made a

recommendation in § 29, the general legal framework for a national specialised body is complete.

2. Hate speech¹⁰

- Racism in political and other forms of public discourse

- 31. In its fourth report, ECRI strongly recommended that the Bulgarian authorities ensure that the legislation on incitement to racial hatred is applied to all politicians making racist and/or xenophobic speeches or remarks. ECRI notes that racist and intolerant hate speech in political discourse continues to be a serious problem in Bulgaria and the situation is worsening. The main targets of racist hate speech are Roma, Muslims, Jews, Turks, and Macedonians. The last election campaign was marked by strong anti-Gypsyism. There has been a pronounced increase in incitement to Islamophobia. Much of the problem centres on one nationalist political party, Ataka, which is represented in Parliament¹¹. Its leader is well-known for his out-spoken racist views. He has rallied against the "gypsification" of Bulgaria, systematically linking Roma with criminals; he has called for a ban on the construction of mosques to halt the spread of Islam and he has published two antisemitic books (see also the section on Racist violence).
- 32. In addition, several other smaller ultra-nationalist/fascist political parties and groups operate in Bulgaria, including NFSB (National Front for Salvation of Bulgaria)¹², VMRO-BND (Internal Macedonian Revolutionary Organisation Bulgarian National Movement) and BNU (Bulgarian National Union). VMRO-BND is notorious for systematically propagating hatred against neighbouring peoples in the Balkans as well as anti-Gypsy propaganda. Yet another extreme nationalist group, the Bulgarian Nationalist Party, attempted to register in November 2013 as a political party. Its members have come together from groups such as Blood and Honour, but also from other political parties including Ataka and VMRO-BND. ECRI is deeply concerned about the ease of official recognition of extremist parties as well as the possibility for them to receive State subsidies (see also §§ 25-26). It seems also that there are a growing number of such groups which engage in racist and intolerant hate speech.
- 33. ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities keep a close watch over the numerous extremist groups and political parties operating in Bulgaria and take swift action against any criminal activities in which they engage, including incitement to discrimination, hatred and violence.
- 34. The situation throughout Bulgaria became extremely tense in the final months of 2013 with an explosion of xenophobic hate speech against refugees who entered the country in large numbers as a consequence of the conflict in Syria. Certain politicians, including the Minister of Interior, sent strong messages that asylum seekers were a burden on society¹³ and dangerous¹⁴. This led to a wave of

¹⁰ This section covers racist and homo/transphobic speech. For a definition of "hate speech" see Recommendation No. R (97) 20 of the Committee of Ministers to the member States on "hate speech", adopted on 30 October 1997.

¹¹ Following the 2013 elections, Ataka entered Parliament for the third time with 7.39 % of the votes and 23 seats (out of a total of 240).

¹² NFSB received 3,7% of the vote in the latest election which prevented them from winning seats in the Parliament by a very narrow margin, since the threshold is 4%.

¹³ Amnesty International Bulgarie : agressions racistes contre des migrants, jeudi 14 novembre 2013, <u>http://balkans.courriers.info/article23629.html</u>. In this article, the Minister of Interior is alleged to have declared that "in no country, the presence of refugees on its territory has ever been an advantage".

¹⁴ A migrant who stabbed a Bulgarian girl was cited erroneously in the media as being a refugee, thus exacerbating prejudice against refugees; a member of Parliament of the Ataka party referred to refugees as assassins, savages and cannibals (Bulgarie : des grillages et des barbelés pour arrêter les migrants, jeudi 14 novembre 2013, <u>http://balkans.courriers.info/article23622.html</u>).

protests and manifestations of anger towards the setting up of additional refugee camps. In September 2013, demonstrations were organised by VMRO-BND against the influx of Syrian refugees¹⁵. Many of the above-mentioned groups have been implicated in inciting hatred which led to acts of violence (see the section on Racist violence).

- Racism on the Internet and in the media

35. ECRI notes that the situation concerning hate speech on the Internet and in the media has not improved since its last report and, according to several sources, has in fact deteriorated. Expressions of racism and xenophobia against foreigners, Turks and Muslims are commonplace, as is abusive language when referring to Roma. Indeed, ECRI has heard that an open anti-Roma campaign is being waged by the media in which Roma are presented as a demographic threat to Bulgaria. There is also a significant amount of hate speech targeting sexual orientation in the media.

- The authorities' response

- 36. As already stated, hate speech is criminalised under Article 162 (1) of the Criminal Code (advocating of or incitement to discrimination, hatred or violence based on race, citizenship or ethnic origin). In addition, Article 164 (1) punishes the preaching of hatred on religious grounds. Thus, the criminalisation of hate speech is limited to the grounds of race, citizenship, ethnic origin and religion. Hate speech targeting sexual orientation or gender identity is not recognised as an offence in the Criminal Code.
- 37. According to the report *Hate Crime in the OSCE Region: Incidents and Responses 2012,* data relating to hate speech are collected by the Ministry of Interior (Central Police Statistics), the Prosecutor's Office, the Supreme Judicial Council and the Court of Cassation. Crime statistics are recorded according to the relevant article of the Criminal Code and, as concerns Article 162 (1), are not broken down according to the above-mentioned motives. Bias motivation is determined by the prosecution and the court.
- 38. The authorities informed ECRI that from January 2008 to September 2013, 55 pre-trial proceedings were initiated under Article 162 (including both paragraph 1 on incitement and paragraph 2 on the use of violence or damage to property). Eleven of these went on to trial and ten persons were convicted. Under Article 164, out of a total of 56 pre-trial proceedings which were initiated, none resulted in a conviction. ECRI is astonished that so few cases of hate speech have reached court and that the conviction rate is so low. It regrets that the criminal law provisions in force to combat hate speech are rarely invoked and hardly ever successfully. This sends a strong message to the public that hate speech is not serious and can be engaged in with impunity.
- 39. ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities take urgent steps to ensure that anyone who engages in hate speech as defined in Articles 162 (1) and 164 (1) of the Criminal Code is duly prosecuted and punished.
- 40. ECRI notes that the Sofia City Prosecutor has tried to have the Ataka party banned under the Political Parties Act and to gather evidence in view of criminal action against its leader for incitement to ethnic and religiously motivated hatred. However, it regrets that these attempts have not succeeded.

¹⁵ Bulgarie : manifestation des nationalistes du VMRO contre l'afflux de réfugiés syriens, mercredi 25 septembre 2013 ; <u>http://balkans.courriers.info/article23254.html</u>.

- 41. In its fourth report, ECRI encouraged the Bulgarian authorities to make the media aware, without undermining their editorial independence, of the need to ensure that the information they provide does not help to breed a climate of hostility towards members of ethnic and religious minorities and to support any initiatives taken in this field. It also reiterated its recommendation that the Bulgarian authorities make every effort to prosecute and punish journalists who incite racial hatred and recommended that the authorities provide the Council for Electronic Media with the human and financial resources needed to ensure that its members are made more aware of issues pertaining to racism and incitement to racial hatred, particularly through appropriate training.
- 42. ECRI notes that the Radio and Television Act of 2002 contains several provisions prohibiting incitement to hatred based on "race, sex, religion or nationality"¹⁶ but regrets that there is no obligation for media service providers to refrain from disseminating hate speech on the ground of sexual orientation.
- 43. ECRI recommends that the provisions of the Radio and Television Act relating to hate speech be amended to include the ground of sexual orientation.
- The Council for Electronic Media (CEM), in its capacity as an independent 44. regulator, has the task of supervising the activities of radio and television broadcasters for compliance with the above-mentioned Act and can issue sanctions for violations ranging from fines to revocation of broadcasting licences. The CEM monitors broadcasting on a regular basis. It also carries out targeted monitoring. In November 2013, for example, in response to the general negative climate against refugees, it decided to monitor the way refugees were portrayed in the media and issued a declaration warning media service providers that they would be held responsible for broadcasting hate speech against refugees. ECRI commends this action. In most cases, however, the CEM has been accused of passive monitoring and doing little in response to violations of the Act. ECRI was informed that from 2010 to 2013, 25 administrative procedures were initiated for breaches of the above-mentioned articles. Many of these related to religious or ethnic intolerance and concerned two television channels well-known for systematically disseminating hate speech (one is owned by the leader of Ataka). Most cases resulted in the imposition of a fine¹⁷.
- 45. ECRI concludes that the system in place for sanctioning violations of the relevant legislation relating to media services is ineffective. In view of the scale of hate speech in the media in Bulgaria, ECRI considers that the CEM should play a far greater role in punishing media service providers who disseminate hate speech. ECRI also considers that the fines are too low to act as a deterrent.
- 46. ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities encourage the Council for Electronic Media to take action in all cases of dissemination of hate speech. It should also be encouraged to raise the fines for violations of the provisions of the Radio and Television Act relating to hate speech so that they act as a real deterrent, as well as to make greater use of the possibility of revoking broadcasting licences where appropriate.

¹⁶ According to Article 8, "media services must not incite to hatred based on race, sex, religion or nationality". Under Article 10, media service providers shall not allow "programmes which [...] incite to intolerance among citizens or hatred on grounds of race, sex, religion or nationality". Article 17 states that media service providers shall be accountable for the content of the media services and shall not allow "the creation or distribution of any broadcasts inciting to national, political, ethnic, religious or racial intolerance".

¹⁷ 3 000 BGN for the first violation (1 533 EUR); if another violation occurs within one year, the fine doubles.

- 47. As regards awareness-raising for the media and appropriate training, ECRI understands that the CEM has organised round tables and seminars on professional ethics and values. Moreover, a dedicated meeting took place in April 2013 with NGOs and the CEM regarding hate speech in the Bulgarian media.
- 48. In addition to the insufficient criminal and administrative law response to hate speech, ECRI regrets that the authorities rarely voice any condemnation of it. Exceptionally, with regard to the surge of resentment against refugees stoked by certain public figures, the President and the Prime Minister issued a joint declaration condemning the acts committed against refugees inspired by xenophobia or racial hatred and appealing for solidarity. The Ombudsman also spoke up and issued a declaration asking the public to be tolerant. ECRI welcomes these steps but still considers that the authorities should be more proactive in diffusing tensions by sending a clear counter-hate speech message to the public by, for example, organising an awareness-raising campaign to promote a positive image of asylum seekers and refugees¹⁸.
- 49. ECRI strongly recommends that the Bulgarian authorities urgently organise an awareness-raising campaign promoting a positive image of and tolerance for asylum seekers and refugees and ensuring that the public understands the need for international protection.

3. Racist and homo/transphobic violence

- 50. In its fourth report, ECRI recommended that the Bulgarian authorities wage campaigns to encourage victims of racist violence to lodge complaints and to foster awareness of the seriousness of racist crime and of the fact that the perpetrators will be duly punished. ECRI notes that racist violence has escalated since its last report. It is not aware of any campaign being waged according to its recommendation.
- 51. As observed above, hate speech targeting refugees has resulted in actual violence against this group and persons perceived as belonging to this group. A young man believed to be of Turkish origin was reportedly mistaken for a refugee and brutally attacked by skinheads in November 2013.
- 52. A series of violent attacks against Roma began in September 2011 when a young boy was run over and killed by a car in which members of a local Roma family were travelling in Katunitsa. The European Roma Rights Centre and the media reported that between September 2011 and July 2012 at least three Romani individuals died following a racially motivated attack, six Romani individuals were stabbed and 17 were beaten¹⁹.
- 53. The Chief Mufti's Office has documented incidents of harassment and violence against the Muslim community, including threats against Muslim women with headscarves, setting dogs on them, spitting on them, throwing liquids on them; painting the walls of religious schools and mosques with the slogans *Death to the Turks* and *Bulgaria for the Bulgarians*; desecrating and setting fire to mosques; damage to mosque property; and physical attacks on imams and mosque guards. Some of these are clearly of a racist nature. On 20 May 2011, a group of 150 supporters of the political party Ataka organised a protest outside the Banya Bashi Mosque in Sofia against the use of loudspeakers to broadcast the call to

¹⁸ A sociological survey conducted by the Mediana polling agency revealed a dramatic increase in xenophobic attitudes. In a series of separate questions put to respondents, one third think that refugees should all be expelled; 20% display a highly critical attitude and are adamant that "we should not help the refugees", while 42% insist that the refugees should be isolated in special camps (reported in the Bulgarian newspaper 24 Chasa, 25 November 2013).

¹⁹ http://www.errc.org/cms/upload/file/attacks-list-in-bulgaria.pdf

prayer. They chanted insults and threw eggs, stones and bottles at the worshippers and set carpets on fire outside the mosque. Five worshippers were injured.

- 54. The Jewish community has reported an increased number of antisemitic incidents. In March 2010, the walls of the Jewish school in Sofia were painted with swastikas and slogans against the politics of Israel. In 2010, the Jewish cemetery in Shoumen was desecrated; the gravestones were broken and painted with swastikas. Also in 2010, synagogues in Burgas and Asenovgrad were set on fire and Jewish monuments in Pleven and Blagoevgrad were desecrated.
- 55. In July 2012, a bomb blew up a bus at Burgas Airport in which 40 Israeli tourists were travelling; seven people died including the suicide bomber and 34 were injured. ECRI draws attention to this example of extreme racist violence while noting that the investigation revealed that the attack was planned outside the country and carried out by foreign citizens having no connection with Bulgaria.
- 56. Intolerance of non-traditional religions has also resulted in violence. During a rally organised by VMRO in April 2011, the House of Prayer of Jehovah's Witnesses in Burgas was violently attacked with stones and members of the church were physically beaten. Five people were injured.
- 57. Six cases of violence against LGBT people have been recorded by NGOs during recent years. They believe that there is under-reporting of this type of violence. The most serious case involved the homophobic murder of a medical student in the Borisova Gradina Park in September 2008. The two suspects who were arrested admitted to police that they had also beaten 10 other gay men as part of their aim to "clean the park". Transgender people in Bulgaria are also particularly vulnerable to violence because they are more visible as gender non-conforming. In June 2009, a transgender woman and a bisexual man survived a violent attack by a group of skinheads. The victims did not report the attack to the police because they believed, based on past experience and stories from other survivors of similar attacks, that the police would not investigate. Research conducted by the European Union's Fundamental Rights Agency (FRA) in all countries has repeatedly and consistently shown that victims of hate crime in general are reluctant to come forward and report²⁰.

- The authorities' response

- 58. ECRI notes with regret that racist violence is seldom prosecuted under the criminal law provisions specifically enacted for this purpose. ECRI is not aware, for instance, of any prosecutions so far involving murder committed with racist motives or causing bodily harm with racist motives. As highlighted above, Article 162 (2) of the Criminal Code on the use of violence against another person or damage to his/her property on account of his/her race, nationality, ethnicity, religion or political opinion has resulted in very few convictions. Furthermore, in more than 110 documented cases of attacks on Muslim property or places of worship in the past 20 years, no perpetrator has ever been brought to justice (see also § 53).
- 59. It has been drawn to ECRI's attention that very often other provisions of the Criminal Code are invoked instead of those specifically targeting racist violence,

²⁰ Opinion of the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights on the Framework Decision on Racism and Xenophobia – with special attention to the rights of victims of crime, FRA Opinion – 02/2013, Framework Decision on Racism and Xenophobia, Vienna, 15 October 2013.

such as Article 325 on hooliganism²¹. For example, as concerns the abovementioned case of an attack on the House of Prayer of Jehovah's Witnesses, six of the perpetrators were convicted of public order offences rather than religiously motivated violence. ECRI regrets this because it fails to send a clear message that racist violence is unacceptable and will be punished. Moreover, it contributes to the lack of information on the extent of racist violence in the country. ECRI stresses the importance of reliable data in order to counter this phenomenon effectively.

- 60. ECRI encourages the authorities to make full use of the Criminal Code provisions specifically targeting racist violence in all cases where this is appropriate.
- 61. The Criminal Code contains no specific response to violence targeting sexual orientation or gender identity. ECRI notes that in the case mentioned above concerning the homophobic killing of a student, the perpetrator was convicted of murder with hooligan motive. This demonstrates a willingness on the part of prosecuting authorities to apply an aggravating circumstance to this particular type of crime and highlights the lacuna in the Criminal Code. ECRI refers to the section below on Policies to combat discrimination and intolerance against LGBT persons.
- 62. Apart from the inadequate criminal law response to racist or homo/transphobic violence, ECRI also regrets the inertia of the authorities in condemning it (see also § 48). In the case of the Turkish man brutally attacked in the street in November 2013, as far as ECRI is aware no condemnation was issued by the Government even though the incident made the headlines and despite a Turkish minority party being part of the ruling coalition. In one notable exception, following the attack on Banya Bashi Mosque by members of the Ataka party in 2011, Members of Parliament from all parties (with the exception of Ataka) voted in favour of a declaration condemning the actions as an attempt to undermine religious peace and tolerance in Bulgaria.

4. Integration policies

63. In Bulgaria, existing integration policies are designed primarily for the Roma population, migrants in a regular situation and refugees.

- Ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities

- 64. As regards Roma, the Bulgarian Parliament approved, in March 2012, a National Roma Integration Strategy (NRIS) as required by the EU Framework for such strategies. This policy framework document includes an Action Plan that is to be implemented in two periods: the first, from 2012 to 2014, which completes the National Action Plan under the Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005-2015; and the second, from 2014 to 2020. The Action Plan is followed by a detailed Communication Plan, which has as its main goal "to change the negative attitudes of Bulgarian society towards the Roma community". Moreover, it requires every region to develop and adopt a regional strategy and action plan for the integration of Roma.
- 65. The main goal of the NRIS is "creating conditions for equitable integration of the Roma and Bulgarian citizens in a vulnerable situation belonging to other ethnic groups in the social and economic life by ensuring equal opportunities and equal access to rights, goods and services, by involving them in all public spheres and improving their quality of life, while observing the principles of equality and non-

²¹ Article 325: "A person who performs indecent acts, grossly violating the public order and expressing open disrespect for society, shall be punished for hooliganism by deprivation of liberty for up to two years or by probation, as well as by public censure".

discrimination". The NRIS clearly states from the outset that the term Roma is used as an umbrella to include both Bulgarian citizens in a vulnerable socioeconomic condition who identify themselves as Roma and citizens in a similar situation, perceived by the majority as Roma, regardless of their selfidentification. The authorities informed ECRI that this formulation was necessary to ensure that Roma, who have a tendency to identify themselves as Bulgarians, Turks or Romanians, have access to assistance provided by the NRIS. Indeed, fewer people declared themselves as Roma in the 2011 census than in the 2001 census, apparently due to fear of racism and racial discrimination, which, according to experts, does not reflect the genuine number of Roma in Bulgaria.

- 66. The NRIS incorporates into a single policy-document the objectives and measures contained in previous strategies and plans, including the Strategy for Educational Integration of the Children from the Ethnic Minorities, the Health Strategy for Disadvantaged Persons belonging to Ethnic Minorities, and the National Programme for Improvement of the Housing of Roma in the Republic of Bulgaria.
- Six priorities are identified: education, health care, housing, employment, rule of 67. law and non-discrimination, and culture and media. A set of goals is proposed for each priority and the Action Plan describes the tasks (122 different activities in total), responsible institutions, timeframe and financing. The NRIS refers to the active involvement of Roma in each area as a key success factor. In the field of housing, the NRIS has as its operational objective to improve the housing conditions and technical infrastructure. Ten tasks have been identified, including providing new plots for house construction in order to de-concentrate Roma neighbourhoods and building and providing social housing. The operational objective in the field of employment is to improve the access of Roma to the labour market and to raise Roma employment rates. Eight specific tasks are identified, such as educating unemployed persons in key competences and promoting entrepreneurship and starting up and managing a business. ECRI addresses the Roma integration policy in the area of education in Section II on Country Specific Topics. The National Council for Cooperation on Ethnic and Integration Issues (see below) is the governmental structure responsible for implementation, monitoring and evaluation.
- 68. As for Bulgaria's other ethnic, religious or linguistic minorities, ECRI is not aware of any recent integration policies targeting them specifically, although there are complaints about prejudice and discrimination and, in the case of Macedonians and Pomaks, deep discontent about their non-recognition as national minorities²². Nonetheless, it notes the existence of the National Council for Cooperation on Ethnic and Integration Issues (NCCEII)²³, which is a consultative and coordinating body assisting the Government in formulating policies on the integration of such minorities (excluding Macedonians and Pomaks²⁴). The NCCEII consists of 64 members, including the Deputy Prime Minister (Chair), deputy ministers of all ministries, representatives of 46 NGOs from six ethnic groups, including the

²² ECRI recalls that these issues are also dealt with by the Advisory Committee on the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities, whose Third Opinion on Bulgaria is in the process of adoption.

²³ Until April 2011, it was known as the National Council for Cooperation on Ethnic and Demographic Issues (NCCEDI).

²⁴ Bulgarians of Macedonian origin and Pomaks are not members of the NCCEII since Bulgaria does not recognise them as national minorities. For further details, ECRI refers to the Second Opinion of the Advisory Committee on the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities on Bulgaria, adopted on 18 March 2010, Strasbourg 23 January 2012, FCNM/II(2012)001.

Jewish, Roma and Turkish communities, as well as organisations working in the field of minority issues.

- Non-nationals

- 69. In its fourth report, ECRI recommended that the authorities pay special attention to the situation of immigrants in Bulgaria, in order to ensure that they are integrated into Bulgarian society and to combat any discrimination against them and intolerance towards them. It also encouraged the authorities to continue to implement the National Programme for the Integration of Refugees and recommended that they provided it with more resources and that they make the population aware of the situation of refugees and take steps to combat any discrimination against them.
- 70. ECRI notes that in 2008 a National Strategy on Migration and Integration was adopted for the period 2008 to 2015. It set two main objectives: firstly, attracting Bulgarian nationals and foreigners of Bulgarian origin to settle permanently in Bulgaria; secondly, establishing a policy for receiving third-country nationals with a view to contributing to the development of the Bulgarian economy. The focus of the strategy is on legal migration and integration and it is implemented through annual action plans and evaluated through annual reports.
- 71. Following this, a National Strategy on Migration, Asylum and Integration was adopted for the years 2011 to 2020. It aims to establish an effective national migration management policy, based on the presumption that the current migration processes will transform Bulgaria from an emigrant country to one receiving immigrants. One of its stated purposes is more efficient management of economic migration and integration. The strategy includes the following target groups, among others: irregular third-country nationals and stateless persons; refugees and asylum seekers or persons granted subsidiary or temporary protection, as well as persons granted humanitarian status; third-country nationals and stateless persons entering and residing legally in Bulgaria for the purposes of employment, education or family reunification; foreign nationals of Bulgarian origin; and highly skilled migrants. Its policy principles include the organisation of targeted campaigns to improve the cultural-diversity climate and to counteract xenophobia, as well as strict compliance with the anti-discrimination legislation.
- 72. As regards the integration of immigrants residing legally in the country (thirdcountry nationals and refugees), the strategy states that Bulgaria pursues an effective integration policy aiming to integrate them successfully by granting to them equal rights, responsibilities and opportunities. It is implemented on the basis of the Common Basic Principles for Immigrant Integration Policy in the European Union, with support from the European Integration Fund. Information and integration centres assisting newly arriving foreigners by providing them with information which is necessary for their stay in the country were opened in Sofia and the other three largest Bulgarian cities under projects supported from the European Fund for the Integration of Third-country Nationals.
- 73. ECRI notes that the National Programme for the Integration of Refugees, which was first adopted in 2005, now covers the period 2011 to 2013. It provides integration services for newly recognised refugees and persons granted other forms of international protection for a one-year period and financial assistance including housing and health insurance, on condition of participation in Bulgarian language training courses for a six-month period and social counselling. The Integration Centre, which is run by the State Agency for Refugees, provides Bulgarian language training, organises vocational qualifications and assists

refugees in finding jobs. ECRI is not aware of any plans to prolong the programme beyond 2013.

- Policies' results

- 74. According to a report prepared by a coalition of NGOs²⁵, there has been no significant progress in the relevant priority areas related to Roma integration into mainstream society in Bulgaria. In their view, the NRIS lacks synergy and coherence and overlooks major areas in relation to housing conditions, health care and educational integration. Other major weaknesses identified in the Bulgarian NRIS are the lack of mechanisms for collecting and disseminating disaggregated data and lack of activities aimed at strengthening Roma participation. In addition, the NRIS fails to provide for sufficient funding; 71 out of 122 activities in the Action Plan are not specifically budgeted.
- 75. The NRIS has been criticised by Roma themselves for equating Roma with those in a vulnerable social and economic situation and introducing this criterion as a prerequisite to Roma identity. They regret that their identity as a national minority with language, traditions and cultural heritage is not recognised and reinforced but that the NRIS treats the challenges presented by the Roma as a social problem (unemployment, early marriage, illiteracy).
- ECRI is very concerned that both Roma and civil society organisations are of the 76. opinion that the NRIS has had few positive results so far. Indeed, it notes that Roma continue to live in spatial isolation which results in social isolation. A significant part of Roma residing in cities inhabit overpopulated neighbourhoods, frequently outside the regulated outskirts of the city. located in places that do not have water and sewer systems and where the electricity supply is obtained illegally or is non-existent. Two fifths of Roma still live in houses without water supply, taking water from outside/street taps and wells; three fifths of Roma houses are not connected to the central sewer system, and four fifths have no bathrooms inside²⁶. Moreover, there continues to be high unemployment levels in the Roma population, or employment in only very low-income jobs. Only 50.2% of economically active persons are employed, that is 19.35% of all Roma aged 15 and over²⁷. On the other hand, as well as some improvements in the field of education (see Topics specific to Bulgaria), ECRI is pleased to learn that, since a change in the law in 2012, illegally built houses can now be legalised and are no longer subject to demolition leaving Roma families homeless.
- 77. Moreover, the NCCEII does not appear to function well. In April 2013, 15 representatives of Roma organisations officially walked out of the first meeting of this body due to its lack of efficiency and renounced their membership. They insisted that it had to be restructured or replaced by a new entity to be effective and they sent an open letter to the Deputy Prime Minister setting out their demands. ECRI understands that a working group has been established to examine a possible change in the structure of the NCCEII.
- 78. ECRI considers that the NRIS is a sound policy document representing a clear opportunity to take concrete steps to improve the situation of Roma in Bulgaria. However, it regrets that there continues to be inadequate financial provision for

²⁵ Civil Society Monitoring Report on the Implementation of the National Roma Integration Strategy and Decade Action Plan in 2012 in Bulgaria, Prepared by a civil society coalition comprising the following organizations: Open Society Institute – Sofia, Indi-Roma 97 Social Foundation, Health of the Roma People Foundation, Roma Academy for Culture and Education Association, Roma Solidarity Foundation, Integro Association, Nov Pat Association, Amalipe Centre for Intercultural Dialogue and Tolerance, World without Borders Association, Written by Dimitar Dimitrov, Vania Grigorova, Joana Decheva, 2013.

²⁶ National Roma Integration Strategy of the Republic of Bulgaria (2012 - 2020).

²⁷ Idem.

Roma integration and lack of political will to assist the Roma population. This serves to perpetuate the deeply rooted structural and societal discrimination and popular prejudice against Roma.

- 79. ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities allocate adequate funding to the National Roma Integration Strategy for it to be effective. They should also find solutions, in close cooperation with all the communities involved, in order for the National Council for Cooperation on Ethnic and Integration Issues to function efficiently for the integration of minorities.
- ECRI has no information about implementation or effectiveness of the National 80. Strategy on Migration, Asylum and Integration. As concerns the National Programme for the Integration of Refugees, ECRI has been informed by governmental and civil society organisations that it does not function well, primarily due to lack of adequate funding. The main concerns are that the programme is limited to 100 persons; it is operational only in Sofia, so refugees have to move to the capital to enrol; there are no childcare facilities making it difficult for parents to attend the compulsory Bulgarian language courses; the language classes are overcrowded and all levels are mixed; only three vocational training courses are available (in tailoring, hairdressing and cosmetics) and the level of housing remains insufficient. Overall, the ineffective support in terms of integration has led many refugees to drop out of the programme and try to work to earn a living. ECRI considers that steps need to be taken to improve the programme in order for refugees to have a real chance at integration in Bulgarian society. Moreover, the programme should be extended beyond the end of 2013 and take into account the high numbers of refugees and persons granted international protection expected to remain in Bulgaria.
- 81. ECRI recommends that the authorities work closely with the UNHCR to extend in time and improve the integration package for refugees.
- 82. ECRI refers also to the section below on Topics specific to Bulgaria for an analysis of the current refugee crisis in Bulgaria.
- II. Topics specific to Bulgaria
- 1. Interim follow-up recommendations of the fourth cycle²⁸
- Training in racial discrimination issues
- 83. In its fourth report, ECRI recommended that the Bulgarian authorities strengthen the initial and in-service training in racial discrimination issues and, in particular, in the provisions of the Anti-Discrimination Act offered to judges, and that the same training be provided to prosecutors. In its conclusions, adopted on 7 December 2011, ECRI welcomed the measures taken to provide training in racial discrimination issues. However, it noted that the number of judges and prosecutors who had received training remained too low. It considered that more should be done to enable training on the provisions of the Anti-Discrimination Act.
- 84. According to information provided by the authorities, a long-term programme of training of members of the judiciary in the European Convention on Human Rights has been on-going since 2005. Training on Article 14 and Protocol 12 is mandatory. Moreover, the National Institute of Justice (NIJ) carries out a special module on implementation of the Anti-Discrimination Act, paying attention also to issues of discrimination on racial and ethnic grounds and including analysis of the case law of the Commission for Protection against Discrimination and the

²⁸ This section also deals with an additional issue which was not part of the interim follow up recommendations of the fourth cycle but which is closely related to one of them (see § 91).

Bulgarian courts. In 2011, a special seminar was organised by the NIJ providing training in racial discrimination issues for judges, examining magistrates and police officers. Furthermore, in 2012, the NIJ developed a specialised programme for human rights training of members of the judiciary with the Council of Europe, which focuses on good practices of member States in combating discrimination.

- 85. The Commission for Protection against Discrimination also organises a series of specialised training seminars on the application of the Anti-Discrimination Act targeting a wide range of participants, including judges, prosecutors, investigative magistrates, lawyers and experts from human rights NGOs specialised in protection against discrimination.
- 86. ECRI was also informed that in 2011, under the EU Progress Programme, a joint project was carried out by the Ministry of Labour and Social Policy, the Commission for Protection against Discrimination and the Open Society Institute in which the Commission developed two specialised training modules for members of the judiciary on the implementation of the Anti-Discrimination Act, one focused on aspects related to criminal proceedings and the other on civil proceedings.
- 87. In view of the above, ECRI is satisfied that its interim follow-up recommendation has been implemented adequately.

- Functioning of the Commission for Protection against Discrimination

- 88. In its fourth report, ECRI recommended that the Bulgarian authorities ensure that the Commission for Protection against Discrimination (the Commission) has the human and financial resources needed to set up and run local offices. In its conclusions, adopted on 7 December 2011, ECRI noted that the Commission had 18 local branches but it would need 28 branches to cover all districts in Bulgaria. ECRI concluded that significant progress had been made, but it considered that more efforts were essential to allow for the opening of more local branches.
- 89. The authorities informed ECRI that 20 regional offices of the Commission are now open but only 18 of them are fully operational. Therefore, the situation has not progressed. In addition, regional offices lack equipment and human resources; they are in fact run by one single representative with no additional staff. Their role is to provide advice to victims of discrimination, assistance with filing a complaint to the Commission and referral of cases to the Commission in Sofia. ECRI considers that they play a very important role and maintains that more efforts are needed to permit the opening of the remaining local branches throughout the country. Moreover, these branches can only be effective with adequate financial and human resources.
- 90. ECRI reiterates its recommendation that the authorities set up and run local offices of the Commission for Protection against Discrimination in all 28 districts of Bulgaria and provide them with adequate financial and human resources to function effectively.
- 91. In addition, ECRI also wishes to draw attention to the recommendation it made in its fourth report that the Bulgarian authorities continue to inform the general public about the content and scope of the Anti-Discrimination Act and that they take measures specifically aimed at ethnic and religious minorities. Following the amendments of 2012, the Act now requires the Commission to inform the public via the mass media of the provisions applicable in the area of protection against discrimination. ECRI notes, however, that booklets and information leaflets about the Act are only available in Bulgarian and some in English and the only language permitted for filing complaints is Bulgarian. This clearly hinders access to justice of the most vulnerable groups in the country. ECRI considers that

efforts should be made to produce information about discrimination and the remedies available to victims in a variety of languages commonly spoken in Bulgaria. Application forms to the Commission should also be available in several languages to facilitate the complaints procedure for the persons most at risk of discrimination.

92. ECRI recommends that the Commission for Protection against Discrimination produces and publishes information about discrimination, and explaining the procedures for discrimination complaints, in a variety of languages used in the country and disseminates it widely.

- The integration of Roma children into mainstream schools

- 93. In its fourth report, ECRI strongly recommended that the Bulgarian authorities continue and intensify the integration process of Roma children into mainstream schools in order to promote social diversity. In its conclusions, adopted on 7 December 2011, ECRI noted with satisfaction that a number of measures had been taken which indicated some progress but concluded that these efforts needed to be pursued consistently to remedy the educational gap between Roma and non-Roma children.
- 94. The section on education of the National Roma Integration Strategy (NRIS) is, according to NGOs, relatively well developed. It sets out seven objectives and 40 interventions. These continue the main trends of the Roma educational integration policy from previous years. At the same time, a number of gaps are noticeable. For example, one of the objectives is "guaranteeing the right to equal access to quality education, including by integrating Roma children and students in ethnically mixed kindergartens and schools" (known as the de-segregation objective). Four tasks are set relating to encouraging ethnically mixed education at pre-school and university level but not at the school level. This is considered a serious failing because, according to the above-mentioned Civil Society Monitoring Report on the Implementation of the National Roma Integration Strategy, the strong tendency for Roma children to be enrolled in schools situated in Roma neighbourhoods still persists. More than half of Roma of school age (51.8%) attend education institutions where the majority of students are of Roma origin. The main reason for this is the tendency to choose the closest school in terms of distance, but persistent discrimination and negative attitudes toward Roma are also a significant factor in Roma children not enrolling in mainstream schools.
- 95. As for positive developments, ECRI is pleased to note that amendments to the Public Education Act introduced obligatory pre-schooling for two years starting in the 2010-2011 school year. The main objective is to ensure an equal start for every child and early socialisation and development of skills required for entry to first grade. According to the authorities, the percentage of Roma children enrolled in kindergartens in the school year 2011-2012 was 81.5% and most Roma households (92%) reported that there is a kindergarten within 3 km of their residence.
- 96. The Centre for Educational Integration of Children and Pupils from Ethnic Minorities, established in 2005, continues to fund projects in schools, kindergartens and municipalities which focus on providing equal access to quality education for children from ethnic minority groups, as well as preserving and developing their cultural identity. ECRI was informed that in the last few years, around 80 projects were financed throughout Bulgaria, including ones related to reducing drop-out, training teachers in the culture and traditions of ethnic minorities, and integrating Roma parents in the management boards of schools and kindergartens. ECRI was also informed that the responsibility for educational

desegregation has been transferred to local authorities and that there has been some success in moving Roma pupils from segregated to mainstream schools.

- 97. However, ECRI regrets that although the Bulgarian authorities have defined support for educational integration as a major priority in the area of education and despite the efforts highlighted above, low achievement in education persists and drop-out rates continue to be disproportionately high among ethnic minorities, particularly Roma pupils. According to official government data for 2011, while secondary school was the highest level of education completed by 52.3% of the Bulgarian population, only 9% of the Roma population had completed that level. The proportion of the groups that never completed any level of education ranged from 0.9% for Bulgarians to 21.8% of Roma.
- 98. Moreover, a study conducted by the Commission for Protection against Discrimination shows that discriminatory attitudes are endemic in the Bulgarian educational system. According to the research, 25% of Bulgarian teachers believed that children from different ethnic backgrounds should study in separate schools and 20% were convinced that children from different ethnic backgrounds have different abilities²⁹. Even more worrying is that similar attitudes were found among children aged 4-5 years old. ECRI considers that these discriminatory attitudes are clear indicators that the initiatives undertaken so far have not led to significant change.
- 99. In addition, ECRI regrets that a Draft Law on Pre-school and School Education which was the result of a wide process of consultations, including with Roma NGOs, and was largely viewed as an important step forward, has been set aside following the political changes in 2013.
- 100. ECRI considers that its conclusions of 2011 are still valid, namely that efforts need to be pursued to remedy the educational gap between Roma and non-Roma children.
- 101. Furthermore, ECRI strongly recommends that specific courses on equality and non-discrimination are provided to school teachers as part of their compulsory initial and in-service training.

2. Refugees and asylum seekers

102. As mentioned already in this report, Bulgaria is currently faced with an increasing influx of refugees as a result of the conflict in Syria. According to government statistics, 11 606 asylum seekers entered the country in 2013. The majority are living in government-run reception centres, which are overcrowded. However, emergency centres have been set up, the largest one being Harmanli, about 30 kilometres from the Turkish border. This closed centre, effectively a detention centre, accommodates asylum seekers in tents, containers and a dilapidated building. The conditions are deplorable, with inadequate provision of food and hygienic facilities, almost no medical care and no access to psychological counselling or interpretation services. ECRI is pleased to note improvements recently brought to its attention by the authorities; medical care, legal assistance and warm food are now provided in all accommodation centres. It fully understands that the current situation is difficult for the Bulgarian authorities and encourages them to make wise and efficient use of all up-coming financial aid to ensure that asylum seekers and refugees have access to decent living conditions and all other reception services required by law as well as to improve the refugee status determination procedures.

²⁹ Darik News, 7 August 2012: <u>http://dariknews.bg/view_article.php?article_id=944172&audio_id=115600</u>.

- 103. ECRI is particularly concerned by the decision of the Government in October 2013 to build a 30km-long temporary, according to the authorities, barrier fence on the border with Turkey in the areas where it is easiest for migrants and refugees to cross into Bulgaria. Such action could jeopardise Bulgaria's international obligations under the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees if genuine refugees are prevented from entering the territory to seek international protection. Moreover, physical barriers contribute to reinforcing the stereotype of asylum seekers as dangerous and undesirable. ECRI refers to the comments of the Commissioner for Human Rights of the Council of Europe on this issue.³⁰
- 104. ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities remove any border fences which create physical barriers to refugees seeking international protection.

3. Policies to combat discrimination and intolerance against LGBT persons

- Legislative issues

- 105. ECRI notes that the current Criminal Code makes no reference to the hate motive of sexual orientation³¹ or gender identity³² in any of its specific articles addressing hate speech and other offences motivated by hate (see §§ 3-4 and 14 of this report). Consequently, in the rare cases in which homophobic attacks are reported and prosecuted, suspects are often charged with the offence of causing bodily harm with hooligan motive. However, ECRI has been informed that proposed amendments to the Criminal Code, which were presented to the public in April 2012, include sexual orientation as a ground in Articles 162 and 163. Since the bill has not yet been enacted, ECRI encourages the authorities to insert sexual orientation also in Articles 116 (1) subsection 11 (murder committed with hooligan, racist or xenophobic motives) and 131 (1) subsection 12. They should also include gender identity as a protected ground in all the above-mentioned articles of the Criminal Code.
- 106. ECRI recommends that the authorities include sexual orientation and gender identity in all the Articles of the Criminal Code addressing hate speech and hate crime (Articles 162, 163, 131 and 116).
- 107. In the area of civil and administrative law, the Anti-discrimination Act includes sexual orientation as a ground for discrimination but not gender identity. ECRI considers that gender identity should be included in order to ensure coherence with the criminal legislation, in accordance with its recommendation above, and a uniform approach to conduct targeting sexual orientation and gender identity.
- 108. ECRI recommends that the authorities amend the Anti-discrimination Act to include gender identity as a ground of discrimination.

³⁰ In an interview with the Bulgarian National Television on 6 November 2013, the Human Rights Commissioner stated: "In its policy towards refugees, Bulgaria must not forget its international obligations under signed conventions. The country cannot close its borders with Turkey, or any other neighbour. Fences are ineffective and too expensive. People will find ways to get around them, and this will be even more dangerous. It would be much wiser to use the money for improving conditions in reception centres and integration policies instead."

³¹ "Sexual orientation is understood to refer to each person's capacity for profound emotional, affectional and sexual attraction to, and intimate and sexual relations with, individuals of a different gender or the same gender or more than one gender", the Yogyakarta Principles on the Application of International Human Rights Law in relation to Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity.

³² "Gender identity refers to each person's deeply felt internal and individual experience of gender, which may or may not correspond with the sex assigned at birth, including the personal sense of the body (which may involve, if freely chosen, modifications to the bodily appearance or function by medical, surgical or other means) and other expressions of gender, including dress, speech and mannerism", ibidem.

- 109. ECRI notes that Bulgaria has explicitly recognised in its national legislation relating to asylum and refugees that sexual orientation is included in the notion of "membership of a particular social group"³³. On this basis, asylum seekers fleeing persecution due to their sexual orientation can be granted international protection.
- 110. ECRI refers also to its comments and recommendation relating to the Radio and Television Act in §§ 42 and 43 of this report.

- Data

- 111. ECRI notes that there is no official data on the LGBT population in Bulgaria. Moreover since the criminal legislation does not recognise offences committed on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity, there are no relevant statistics on hate speech or hate crime. The limited information available comes from NGOs. According to these, there have been six cases in recent years of violence against LGBT persons and only one which resulted in the prosecution and conviction of the perpetrator (see § 59).
- 112. ECRI recommends that the authorities collect data on hate speech and hate crime against LGBT persons, including on the number of cases reported, investigated and prosecuted.
- 113. ECRI has been informed that 10 cases have been brought before the Commission for Protection against Discrimination so far alleging discrimination based on sexual orientation and in all cases the Commission found in favour of the victim. This indicates that there is discrimination and intolerance against LGBT persons in Bulgaria and ECRI welcomes the recognition of such discrimination as a breach of fundamental rights by Bulgaria's anti-discrimination authority.
- 114. ECRI understands that Bulgarian legislation authorises the collection of personal data with the consent of those concerned. It recalls that Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5 of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity indicates that personal data referring to a person's sexual orientation or gender identity can be collected when this is necessary for the performance of a specific, lawful and legitimate purpose. It is clear that without such information, there can be no basis for developing and implementing policies to address intolerance and discrimination against LGBT persons.
- 115. ECRI encourages the authorities to undertake research and collect data on LGBT persons in Bulgaria as well as on discrimination and intolerance against them.

- Promoting tolerance and combating discrimination

116. According to a recent LGBT Survey of the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights, 91% of the people interviewed believe that in Bulgaria positive measures to promote respect for the human rights of LGBT people are fairly rare or very rare. The survey shows that many LGBT people have to hide their sexual orientation at school or work. 19% of the people interviewed affirm that they have been discriminated against because of their LGBT status when looking for a job; 25% of them feel discriminated against at work; 12% feel

³³ Report of the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights on "Discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in Europe" (2nd edition, Council of Europe Publishing, September 2011).

discriminated against when looking for accommodation to rent or buy; 9% affirm feeling discriminated against by health care personnel³⁴.

- 117. Concerning employment, according to research conducted by the Open Society Institute in Sofia, just over 40% of those polled think that an "untraditional" sexual orientation is an obstacle to competition in the labour market. In answer to the question "who is the person that you would never hire?", more than 25% replied "a homosexual"³⁵. Transgender and gender non-conforming individuals are the ones who experience most difficulty in accessing jobs and are the most commonly fired from work.
- 118. ECRI notes that sex education is not part of the basic curriculum in Bulgaria, but aspects of it comes up in health education and subjects such as biology and man and nature. However, there is no obligation for teachers of these subjects to discuss sexual orientation or trans and intersex issues in their classes. ECRI has been informed that transgender pupils are the most common victims of bullying and school policies do not provide for any particular support to them.
- 119. ECRI notes that there is no specific legislation regulating gender reassignment for trans and intersex persons. Article 76 (4) of the Civil Registration Act stipulates that a person's name and gender can only be changed following court proceedings³⁶. No procedures or criteria for allowing or refusing an application for gender rectification are defined. However, as regards gender reassignment, the very small number of cases brought so far (11) has established a positive trend; following an assessment by psychiatrists and sexologists, the way a person self-identifies is the primary criteria upon which to base the decision. There is no case law concerning intersex conditions. It appears that these are treated through medical intervention in early childhood without the opinion of the child being taken into account. ECRI points out that this practice is not in line with international standards and current expertise on the issue³⁷. ECRI considers,

³⁷ These include the following:

- 1) The 2006 Yogyakarta Principles on the Application of International Human Rights Law in relation to Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity. Principle 18 calls on States to take all necessary legislative, administrative and other measures to ensure that no child's body is irreversibly altered by medical procedures in an attempt to impose a gender identity without the full, free and informed consent of the child in accordance with the age and maturity of the child and guided by the principle that in all actions concerning children, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration.
- 2) Resolution 1952(2013) of the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe on children's right to physical integrity, which calls on member States to ensure that no-one is subjected to unnecessary medical or surgical treatment that is cosmetic rather than vital for health during infancy or childhood, guarantee bodily integrity, autonomy and self-determination to persons concerned, and provide families with intersex children with adequate counselling and support.
- 3) Opinion No. 20/2012 of the Swiss National Advisory Commission on Biomedical Ethics On the management of differences of sex development, Ethical issues relating to intersexuality, which made a strong case against medical intervention for "psychosocial" reasons. The Commission also called for the deferral of non-trivial treatment until a child can consent. <u>http://www.bag.admin.ch/nek-cne/04229/04232/index.html?lang=en</u>.
- 4) The conclusions of the Second International Intersex Forum, organised by ILGA and ILGA-Europe in Stockholm on 9-11 December 2012, called for the right of bodily integrity and selfdetermination. The Forum demanded an end to mutilating and "normalising" practices such as genital surgeries, psychological and other medical treatments and that the personal, free, prior, and fully informed consent of the intersex individual be a compulsory requirement in all medical practices and protocols.

 $\label{eq:http://www.ilga-europe.org/home/news/for_media/media_releases/intersex_forum_2012_media_release.$

³⁴ LGBT Survey Data explorer 2013 of the EU Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA) <u>http://fra.europa.eu/DVS/DVT/lgbt.php</u>.

³⁵ <u>http://bnr.bg/sites/en/Economy/Pages/1801discriminationonlabormarket.aspx.</u>

³⁶ Specifics of the Bulgarian system are the existence of mandatory male-indicating or female-indicating suffixes of everybody's name and the mandatory entry of the sex in each identity document.

therefore, that the legislation needs to be further developed to include the essential criteria and necessary steps concerning both gender recognition and gender reassignment. For example, gender reassignment should not be a prerequisite for gender changes in personal documents³⁸.

- 120. ECRI recommends that the authorities develop legislation on gender recognition and gender reassignment ensuring that it is in line with international standards and expertise.
- 121. ECRI notes that surgery relating to a change of sex is covered under the national health insurance system. Hormone treatment, on the other hand, is not covered, as such treatment is only provided for "illnesses". The costs must be borne by the trans or intersex person concerned. In view of the fact that hormone therapy is an essential part of gender reassignment, ECRI encourages the authorities to consider providing financial assistance to those in need of such treatment.
- 122. In view of the above-mentioned lack of information about LGBT people in Bulgaria and the significant discrimination, harassment and violence to which they are exposed, ECRI considers that the authorities should draw up and adopt an action plan to increase tolerance vis-à-vis LGBT persons and to combat homophobia and transphobia.
- 123. ECRI recommends that the authorities draw up and adopt an action plan to combat homophobia and transphobia in all areas of everyday life, including education, employment and health care, taking inspiration from Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5 of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity.

⁵⁾ ECRI notes also that in 2013, Germany became the first European nation to allow babies with characteristics of both sexes to be registered as indeterminate gender on birth certificates.

³⁸ According to the report "Discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in Europe" (2nd edition, Council of Europe Publishing, September 2011), surgery leading to sterilisation is a requirement for gender recognition in Bulgaria. In addition, transgender persons must be unmarried in order to be legally recognised in the preferred gender.

INTERIM FOLLOW-UP RECOMMENDATIONS

The two specific recommendations for which ECRI requests priority implementation from the authorities of Bulgaria are the following:

- ECRI strongly recommends that the Bulgarian authorities urgently organise an awareness-raising campaign promoting a positive image of and tolerance for asylum seekers and refugees and ensuring that the public understands the need for international protection.
- ECRI recommends that the Commission for Protection against Discrimination produces and publishes information about discrimination, and explaining the procedures for discrimination complaints, in a variety of languages used in the country and disseminates it widely.

A process of interim follow-up for these two recommendations will be conducted by ECRI no later than two years following the publication of this report

LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS

The position of the recommendations in the text of the report is shown in parentheses.

- 1. (§2) ECRI reiterates its recommendation that Bulgaria ratifies Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights as soon as possible.
- (§5) ECRI recommends that the gaps in the protection offered under Article 164 (1) of the Criminal Code should be filled and that religion should be included as a ground in Articles 162 (1) and 163. Colour, language and citizenship should be included as grounds for the commission of the offences set out in Articles 162 and 163.
- 3. (§7) ECRI recommends that the offence of threats against a person or group of persons on the grounds of their race, colour, language, religion, nationality or national or ethnic origin be included in the Criminal Code.
- 4. (§9) ECRI recommends that the Criminal Code be amended to include a provision against the public expression, with a racist aim, of an ideology which claims the superiority of, or which depreciates or denigrates, a grouping of persons on the grounds of their race, colour, language, religion, nationality, or national or ethnic origin.
- 5. (§11) ECRI recommends that racial discrimination in the exercise of one's public office or occupation be criminalised.
- 6. (§13) ECRI encourages the authorities to consider the possibility of providing for the criminal liability of legal persons for racially motivated offences.
- 7. (§15) ECRI once again recommends that the Bulgarian authorities insert a provision in the Criminal Code expressly stating that racist motivation for any ordinary offence constitutes an aggravating circumstance.
- 8. (§18) ECRI recommends that colour and language be included as grounds in Article 4 of the Anti-discrimination Act, in accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 § 1.
- 9. (§20) ECRI recommends that discrimination by association and announced intention to discriminate be included as forms of discrimination in the Anti-discrimination Act.
- 10. (§22) ECRI recommends that the Anti-discrimination Act expressly mentions that public authorities are under a duty to ensure that those parties to whom they award contracts, loans, grants or other benefits respect and promote a policy of non-discrimination and that the violation of such condition may result in the termination of the contract, grant or other benefits.
- 11. (§24) ECRI recommends that a provision be inserted into the Anti-discrimination Act to the effect that discriminatory provisions which are included in individual or collective contracts or agreements, internal regulations of enterprises, rules governing profit-making or non-profit-making associations, and rules governing the independent professions and workers' and employers' organisations, should be amended or declared null and void.
- 12. (§26) ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities insert a provision into the Anti-discrimination Act providing for an obligation to suppress public financing of organisations or political parties which promote racism.

- 13. (§29) ECRI recommends that a provision be inserted into the Anti-discrimination Act expressly prohibiting members of the Commission for Protection against Discrimination from receiving instructions.
- 14. (§33) ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities keep a close watch over the numerous extremist groups and political parties operating in Bulgaria and take swift action against any criminal activities in which they engage, including incitement to discrimination, hatred and violence.
- 15. (§39) ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities take urgent steps to ensure that anyone who engages in hate speech as defined in Articles 162 (1) and 164 (1) of the Criminal Code is duly prosecuted and punished.
- 16. (§43) ECRI recommends that the provisions of the Radio and Television Act relating to hate speech be amended to include the ground of sexual orientation.
- 17. (§46) ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities encourage the Council for Electronic Media to take action in all cases of dissemination of hate speech. It should also be encouraged to raise the fines for violations of the provisions of the Radio and Television Act relating to hate speech so that they act as a real deterrent, as well as to make greater use of the possibility of revoking broadcasting licences where appropriate.
- 18. (§49) ECRI strongly recommends that the Bulgarian authorities urgently organise an awareness-raising campaign promoting a positive image of and tolerance for asylum seekers and refugees and ensuring that the public understands the need for international protection.
- 19. (§60) ECRI encourages the authorities to make full use of the Criminal Code provisions specifically targeting racist violence in all cases where this is appropriate.
- 20. (§79) ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities allocate adequate funding to the National Roma Integration Strategy for it to be effective. They should also find solutions, in close cooperation with all the communities involved, in order for the National Council for Cooperation on Ethnic and Integration Issues to function efficiently for the integration of minorities.
- 21. (§81) ECRI recommends that the authorities work closely with the UNHCR to extend in time and improve the integration package for refugees.
- 22. (§90)ECRI reiterates its recommendation that the authorities set up and run local offices of the Commission for Protection against Discrimination in all 28 districts of Bulgaria and provide them with adequate financial and human resources to function effectively.
- 23. (§92) ECRI recommends that the Commission for Protection against Discrimination produces and publishes information about discrimination, and explaining the procedures for discrimination complaints, in a variety of languages used in the country and disseminates it widely.
- 24. (§104) ECRI strongly recommends that the authorities remove any border fences which create physical barriers to refugees seeking international protection.
- 25. (§106) ECRI recommends that the authorities include sexual orientation and gender identity in all the Articles of the Criminal Code addressing hate speech and hate crime (Articles 162, 163, 131 and 116).
- 26. (§108) ECRI recommends that the authorities amend the Anti-discrimination Act to include gender identity as a ground of discrimination.

- 27. (§112) ECRI recommends that the authorities collect data on hate speech and hate crime against LGBT persons, including on the number of cases reported, investigated and prosecuted.
- 28. (§115) ECRI encourages the authorities to undertake research and collect data on LGBT persons in Bulgaria as well as on discrimination and intolerance against them.
- 29. (§120) ECRI recommends that the authorities develop legislation on gender recognition and gender reassignment ensuring that it is in line with international standards and expertise.
- 30. (§123) ECRI recommends that the authorities draw up and adopt an action plan to combat homophobia and transphobia in all areas of everyday life, including education, employment and health care, taking inspiration from Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5 of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

This bibliography lists the main published sources used during the examination of the situation in Bulgaria: it should not be considered as an exhaustive list of all sources of information available to ECRI during the preparation of the report.

European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI)

- 1. ECRI (2012a), Conclusions on the implementation of the recommendations in respect of Bulgaria subject to interim follow-up, CRI(2012)7.
- 2. ECRI (2009a); Fourth report on Bulgaria, CRI(2009)2.
- 3. ECRI (2004a), Third Report on Bulgaria, CRI(2004)2.
- 4. ECRI (2000a), Second report on Bulgaria, CRI(2000)1.
- 5. ECRI (1998a), Report on Bulgaria, CRI(98)46.
- 6. ECRI (1996), General Policy Recommendation No. 1: Combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, CRI(96)43.
- 7. ECRI (1997), General Policy Recommendation No. 2: Specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level, CRI(97)36.
- 8. ECRI (1998b), General Policy Recommendation No. 3: Combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies, CRI(98)29.
- 9. ECRI (1998c), General Policy Recommendation No. 4: National surveys on the experience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view of potential victims, CRI(98)30.
- 10. ECRI (2000b), General Policy Recommendation No. 5: Combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims, CRI(2000)21.
- 11. ECRI (2000c), General Policy Recommendation No. 6: Combating the dissemination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic material via the Internet, CRI(2001)1.
- 12. ECRI (2003), General Policy Recommendation No. 7: National legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, CRI(2003)8.
- 13. ECRI (2004b), General Policy Recommendation No. 8: Combating racism while fighting terrorism, CRI(2004)26.
- 14. ECRI (2004c), General Policy Recommendation No. 9: The fight against antisemitism, CRI(2004)37.
- 15. ECRI (2007a), General Policy Recommendation No. 10: Combating racism and racial discrimination in and through school education, CRI(2007)6.
- 16. ECRI (2007b), General Policy Recommendation No. 11: Combating racism and racial discrimination in policing, CRI(2007)39.
- 17. ECRI (2009b), General Policy Recommendation No. 12: Combating racism and racial discrimination in the field of sport, CRI(2009)5.
- 18. ECRI (2011), General Policy Recommendation No. 13: Combating anti-Gypsyism and discrimination against Roma, CRI(2011)37.
- 19. ECRI (2012b), General Policy Recommendation No. 14: Combating racism and racial discrimination in employment, CRI(2012)48.

Other sources

- 20. National Strategy of Bulgaria for Integration of Roma (2012-2020).
- 21. Council of Europe (2011), Discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in Europe.
- 22. Council of Europe, Committee of Ministers (2010), Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5 on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender.
- Council of Europe (2012), Reply by the Bulgarian Government to the questionnaire on the implementation of Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5 of the Committee of Ministers, CDDH(2012) R 76 Addendum VIII, reply to question no. 10.

- 24. Council of Europe, Committee of Ministers (2013), Response of the Bulgarian authorities to the questionnaire concerning Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5 on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity.
- 25. European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) (2000), Hasan and Chaush v. Bulgaria; Application no. 30985/96, Judgment.
- 26. ECtHR (2001), Stankov and the United Macedonian Organisation Ilinden v. Bulgaria, Application nos. 29221/95 and 29225/95, Judgment.
- 27. ECtHR (2004), Supreme Holy Council of the Muslim Community v. Bulgaria, Application no. 39023/97, Judgment.
- 28. ECtHR (2005a), United Macedonian Organisation Ilinden and Ivanov v. Bulgaria, Application no. 44079/98, Judgment.
- 29. ECtHR (2005b), Ivanov and Others v. Bulgaria, Application no. 46336/99, Judgment.
- 30. Cour européenne des droits de l'homme (2012), Yotova c. Bulgarie, Requête n° 43606/04, Arrêt.
- 31. ECtHR (2013a), Sindicatul "Păstorul cel Bun" v. Romania [GC], Application no. 2330/09, Judgment.
- 32. ECtHR (2013b), Maktouf and Damjanović v. Bosnia and Herzegovina [GC], Application nos. 2312/08 and 34179/08, Judgment.
- Council of Europe, Commissioner for Human Rights (2010), Report by Thomas Hammarberg, of the following his visit to Bulgaria from 3 to 5 November 2009, CommDH(2010)1.
- 34. Council of Europe, Advisory Committee on the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities (2012a), Second Opinion on Bulgaria, FCNM/II(2012)001.
- Council of Europe, Advisory Committee on the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities (2012b), Third report submitted by Bulgaria pursuant to Article 25, paragraph 2 of the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities, ACFC/SR/III(2012)004.
- 36. European Roma and Travellers Forum (2012), Anti-Gypsyism in Bulgaria.
- 37. United Nations, Human Rights Council (2012), Report of the independent expert on minority issues, Addendum, Mission to Bulgaria (4 to 11 July 2011), A/HRC/19/56/Add.2.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) (2013), A New Beginning Refugee Integration in Europe.
- 39. Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE), High Commissioner on National Minorities (2012), Ljubljana Guidelines on Integration of Diverse Societies.
- 40. OSCE Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights (ODIHR) (2012), Hate crimes in the OSCE region incidents and responses Annual report for 2011.
- OSCE ODIHR (2013), Hate crimes in the OSCE Region: incidents and responses Annual report for 2012.
- Council Directive (EC) 2000/43/EC of the Council of the European Union of 29 June 2000 implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin.
- Council Directive (EC) 2000/78/EC of the Council of the European Union of 27 November 2000 establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation.
- 44. European Commission (2013), Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Steps forward in implementing national Roma integration strategies, COM(2013)454 final.
- 45. European Commission (2014), Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the Implementation of Council Framework Decision 2008/913/JHA on combating certain forms and expressions of racism and xenophobia by means of criminal law, COM(2014) 27 final.

- 46. European Parliament and Council Directive (EC) 2006/54/EC of 5 July 2006 on the implementation of the principle of equal opportunities and equal treatment of men and women in matters of employment and occupation.
- 47. European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA) (2013a), Opinion on the Framework Decision on Racism and Xenophobia with special attention to the rights of victims of crime.
- 48. FRA (2013b), EU LGBT survey data explorer.
- FRA (2013c), Making hate crime visible in the European Union: acknowledging victims' rights.
- 50. Amnesty International (2012), Changing laws, changing minds.
- 51. Article 19, Responding to hate speech against LGBTI people.
- 52. Bulgarian Helsinki Committee, Human rights in Bulgaria in 2012, Annual Report.
- 53. Courrier des Balkans, Bulgarie : des grillages et des barbelés pour arrêter les migrants, 12 novembre 2013.
- 54. Courrier des Balkans, Amnesty International, Bulgarie : agressions racistes contre des migrants, 14 novembre 2013.
- 55. Dimitrov, D., Grigorova, V. and Decheva, J. (2013), Civil Society Monitoring Report on the Implementation of the National Roma Integration Strategy and Decade Action Plan in 2012 in Bulgaria, Decade of Roma Inclusion Secretariat Foundation.
- 56. Dyankova, E. and Ilareva, V. (2012), Shadow Report 2010-2011, Racism and related discriminatory practices in Bulgaria, European network against racism (ENAR).
- 57. Dyankova, E. and Ilareva, V. (2013), Shadow Report 2011-2012, Racism and related discriminatory practices in Bulgaria, European network against racism (ENAR).
- 58. EUOBSERVER, Bulgaria unable to cope with Syrian refugees, 18 September 2013.
- 59. Euractiv.com, Sofia urged to keep nationalist party Ataka at arm's length, 3 July 2013.
- 60. European Network of Equality Bodies (Equinet) (2012), Brief Profile Commission for Protection against Discrimination –Bulgaria (latest update on 12 June 2012).
- 61. European Roma Rights Centre (2012), Attacks against Roma in Bulgaria: September 2011-July 2012.
- 62. Equinet (2013), Equality Bodies Promoting Equality & Non-Discrimination for LGBTI People An Equinet Perspective.
- 63. Fekete, L. (2012), Pedlars of hate: the violence impact of the European far Right, Institute of Race Relations.
- Ilieva, M. (2012), Report on measures to combat discrimination, Directives 2000/43/EC and 2000/78/EC, Country Report 2011 – Bulgaria, European network of legal experts in the non-discrimination field.
- 65. Ilieva, M. Opposition bill to repeal the antidiscrimination act, European network of legal experts in the non-discrimination field, 5 September 2012.
- 66. Integro Association (2012), Review of the National Roma Strategy of Bulgaria.
- 67. International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association (ILGA)-Europe (2013), Annual Review.
- 68. Kolev, D. (2013), Monitoring and evaluation of the National Roma Integration Strategies (focus on Bulgaria and Romania), Center for Interethnic Dialogue and Tolerance "Amalipe".
- 69. Kukova, S. (2008), FRA Legal Study on Homophobia and Discrimination on Grounds of Sexual Orientation, report on Bulgaria.
- 70. Leviev-Sawyer, C., Siderov in shouting matches on Bulgarian breakfast television shows, Sofia Echo, 29 September 2011.
- 71. Novinite/Bnews.bg, Bulgarie : manifestation des nationalistes du VMRO contre l'afflux de réfugiés syriens traduit par Jaklina Naumovski, 23 septembre 2013.
- 72. Novinite.com, Sofia News Agency, Bulgaria Might Ban Nationalist Party 'Ataka' for Stirring Hatred Crime, 22 May 2011.

- 73. Novinite.com, Bulgarian Nationalists Demand Ban of Jehovah's Witnesses', 19 April 2011.
- 74. Novinite.com, Sofia News Agency, Bulgarian Volunteers Clean Facebook from Xenophobic Groups Society, 29 September 2011.
- 75. Novinite.com, Sofia News Agency, Socialist-Disappointed Bulgarian Roma Launch New Party, 18 August 2013.
- 76. Roma Virtual Network, The Anti-Gypsyism and Bulgarian Elections, 21 May 2013.
- 77. Romedia Foundation, Celebrating the 8th of April 2013 with Massive Protest by Roma Representatives in Bulgaria, 10 April 2013.
- 78. Sofia Echo, Bulgarian MPs condemn Ataka assault on Sofia mosque, 27 May 2011.
- 79. Sofia Globe, Facing refugee influx, Bulgaria to build 30km fence on Turkish border, 16 October 2013.
- 80. Sudetic, C., Roma in Political Life: Bulgaria Political Manipulation and the Damage Done, Roma Initiatives Office, 10 September 2013.
- 81. The Scotsman, Bulgaria: Hardline Ataka party now fourth largest, 15 May 2013.
- 82. Tahir, O., The Anti-Gypsyism and Bulgarian Elections, Roma Network, 21 May 2013.
- 83. United States Department of State (2013), Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights and Labor, Bulgaria 2012 human rights report.
- 84. Zaharieva, E. (2012), The Burgas Attack and Antisemitism in Bulgaria, The Berlin International Center for the Study of Antisemitism (BICSA), BICSA Working Paper Series, No. 1.

APPENDIX: GOVERNMENT'S VIEWPOINT

The following appendix does not form part of ECRI's analysis and proposals concerning the situation in Bulgaria

ECRI, in accordance with its country-by-country procedure, engaged in confidential dialogue with the authorities of Bulgaria on a first draft of the report. A number of the authorities' comments were taken on board and integrated into the report's final version (which, in line with ECRI's standard practice, could only take into account developments up until 21 March 2014, date of the examination of the first draft).

The authorities also requested that the following viewpoint be reproduced as an appendix to the report.

Observations on the ECRI Fifth Report on Bulgaria

The Bulgarian authorities welcome the continued dialogue with the ECRI and have carefully considered the contents of the Fifth Report on Bulgaria.

The results of this exercise, including observations and additional information concerning certain issues raised by the ECRI, structured on the basis of the Report, are summarized in the present document.

General remarks

The Report rightly points out the strengthened legal and institutional framework for protection against discrimination and for implementing a modern state policy in the field of human rights.

It is regrettable, however, that some other very important contributions and comments of the authorities presented during the last contact visit have not been duly considered by ECRI. Some of the information presented by the Bulgarian authorities was used only partially or even disregarded. It would therefore be stated that with regard to the relevant issues our position remains unchanged.

Generally, it would be emphasised that ECRI must confine itself to issues within the scope of its mandate as approved by the member States of the Council of Europe. Likewise, findings and recommendations should be based on concrete confirmed facts. Any departure from this approach would inevitably undermine the credibility of the report as such. In addition, isolated cases of a private nature cannot serve as a basis for generalizations concerning the overall situation in the country.

Furthermore, some of the conclusions presented by the ECRI are based on information, provided by NGO's selected on the basis of unclear criteria, while neglecting information from other NGO's, uniting many more members and supporters and having a longer record of activities.

More use should be made by ECRI of official sources of information, such as the widely available and very reliable - annual reports of the Ombudsman before the National Assembly. A more balanced approach towards the information and data, provided by the State authorities and non-governmental sources would certainly improve the pertinence and quality of the conclusions and recommendations of the ECRI reports in general.

In this context, the Fifth Report of ECRI on Bulgaria will be subject to further examination by the competent Bulgarian authorities in view of identifying and adopting further relevant measures to address, as appropriate, certain remaining real situations. Substantive observations and suggestions will also be tested against the existing social practice over a longer period of time and the results will be analysed in dialogue with the competent institutions at national and international level.

Legislation against racism and racial discrimination

The Bulgarian authorities would like to reiterate accession to Protocol No 12 to the ECHR is a matter of sovereign choice for each Member State. It is a fundamental principle of public international law that each state is free to decide whether to accede to any international legal instrument or not. ECRI is under obligation to strictly abide by this principle.

It would also be noted that the Constitution and the relevant laws of Republic of Bulgaria guarantee full protection against discrimination of any person under its jurisdiction in compliance with the relevant international standards. In 2003, the Bulgarian National Assembly adopted the Law on Protection against Discrimination (LPD), which provides for full protection against all forms of discrimination. It contains both substantive and procedural provisions aimed at enabling effective enforcement and achieving equality of status of persons belonging to risk groups.

However, the practical implementation of Protocol No 12 by its 18 States Parties and the practice of the ECtHR in this respect would be reviewed by Bulgaria, as appropriate.

Criminal Law Amendments

In 2009 the scope of application of article 162, paragraphs 1 and 2 of the Criminal Code was expanded. This decision was taken in response to the requirements of EU Framework decision 2008/913/JHA in the field of combating racism and xenophobia through criminal law. The amendment brought Bulgarian laws in conformity with the international obligations. The following provisions were affected: grounds of discrimination in the CRB (article 6, paragraph 2), the Law on Protection against Discrimination (article 4, paragraph 2) and the Criminal Code, which criminalizes any public incitement to violence or hatred.

As evident from the wording of article 162 of the Criminal Code, the provision specifies the grounds for discrimination "race", "nationality" and "ethnicity". Nationality can be defined as a cultural-historical community based on ethnic proximity, common religion, common language, historical past, cultural unity, common traditions and customs. In this sense, the Criminal Code penalizes the acts preaching or abetting discrimination, violence or hatred against a given group of persons based on the language used thereby.

As regards the "race", Bulgarian authorities would like to highlight the fact that that "race" as a notion is implicitly contained in the provision of article 162 of the Criminal Code. There are two reasons for that: first, the Criminal Court has interpreted article 162 in the context of other national legislation. Paragraph 1, subparagraph 6 of the LPD specifies that "racial segregation" is defined as 'performing of an action or omission, which leads to compulsory separation, differentiation or dissociation of persons based on their race, ethnicity or colour'. The court has referred to this provision when interpreting article 162. Therefore Bulgarian Criminal Court has interpreted the two articles in conjunction. That means that "race" is implicitly contained in Article 162 as result of its explicit inclusion in Paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 6. Second, the court has confirmed this interpretation in its use of international norms such as the definition of the term "racial discrimination" laid down in article 1 of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (ratified by Decree of the State Council of 23.06.1966, Official Gazette, No 51 of 1966, issued by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, promulgated in OG, No 56 of 10.07.1992, effective 4.01.1969), where in the term "racial discrimination" means any difference, exclusion, restriction or preference based on grounds of race, colour, ancestry, national or ethnic origin aimed to destroy or result in destroying or prejudicing the recognition, use or exercise on an equal footing of human rights and fundamental freedoms in political, economic, social, cultural or any other areas of public life. Therefore colour is an indicator implicitly contained in the provision of article 162 of the Criminal Code.

The Bulgarian authorities note the report's recommendation to include the notion "sexual orientation". Bulgarian authorities have current plans to include "sexual orientation" among the protected indicators. In fact, in the new draft of the Criminal

Code the identifier has already been incorporated. According to the draft, "protected indicator" means race, nationality, ethnicity, origin, religion, faith, health status, age, sex or sexual orientation.

As regards the Commission's recommendation for supplementing article 144 of the Criminal Code (paragraphs 6-7), it should be noted that the provision of this article lays down deprivation of liberty of up to three years for a person who threatens another person with a crime against his or her person or property or against the person or property of his or her close relations and where this threat could evoke justified fear of its implementation. The provision is general and does not specify the intent elements of the crime (one of the main elements of the crime). Pursuant to article 54, paragraph 1 of the Criminal Code, when personalizing criminal liability the court takes into consideration the causes (incl. racial and xenophobic) for the commitment of the crime.

Criminal Prosecution of Legal Entities (paragraphs 12-13)

At present the Bulgarian law precludes the possibility for prosecution of legal entities, because the criminal liability may be sought only for personal acts.

The tort liability of legal entities does not concern personal acts committed by the entity, but has warranty and security nature against future infringements caused by people working or hired by the entity. In these cases the victim may seek remedy for the damages caused both from the wrongdoer and from the commissioning authority, i.e. the legal entity.

This warranty and security function is better served by tort rather than criminal sanctions because tort liability provides the right incentives for representatives of legal entities to perform their duties. Criminal sanctions can affect negatively the representatives' economic decision making. The reason is that they will take undesirably cautious decisions. On the contrary, tort liability can lead to substantial financial sanctions that are sufficient to preclude further infringements of the law and ultimately lead to better human rights protection.

In regard to the recommendation contained in paragraph 15, it should be noted that according to the provision of article 56 of the Criminal Code for circumstances to be defined as attenuating and aggravating circumstances, they need to be reflected in the perpetrator's behaviour when committing the crime. The issue is resolved by court practice. Racial grounds are assumed as an aggravating circumstance and are taken into consideration in the individualization of the penalty (e.g. Sentence No 275 of 19.07.2012 of Plovdiv District Court on criminal case of general nature No 7660/2011).

Civil and administrative law

Legal entities may be prosecuted in non-criminal proceedings under the Law on Protection against Discrimination (LPD).

Article 80, paragraph 2 of the LPD states the following: when an individual commits a violation while acting on behalf of a legal person, the latter will pay a fine of 250 to 2500 BGN. Other provisions of the LPD implicitly contain the rule for liability of legal entities for anti-discrimination violations (article 4, article 7, article 10, article 11, the whole Section One of Chapter Two of this Law, imposing a number of obligations to employers, most of which are legal entities, article 32, etc.).

The practice of the Commission for Protection against Discrimination (CPD) shows that often the liability of legal entities is sought for default on obligations under the LPD (Judgement No 166/ 28.09.2011 on case file No179/2010 imposing a material

sanction on NPP Kozloduy EAD in the amount of BGN 2000 for ascertained discrimination on the grounds of "personal status"). In addition, under article 74 of the LPD in the cases where the CPD has found violation of rights under the nondiscrimination legislation, the victim may bring a claim in accordance with the general procedure for compensation against wrongdoers, including legal entities, which have caused the harm (as regards violations committed by public authorities, the compensation is adjudicated under the Law on the Liability Incurred by the State and the Municipalities for Damages). As regards court proceedings, pursuant to article 71, paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 3 of the LPD, simultaneously with the ascertainment of the violation, the court awards damages in cases where such damages have been sought.

Supplementing article 4 of the Law on Protection of Discrimination (paragraphs 18-20)

The LPD defines comprehensive legal framework for the observance of the principle of equal treatment. The Law protects from discrimination all individuals on the territory of Bulgaria. All direct or indirect discrimination is expressly prohibited. The grounds for discrimination include sex, race, ethnicity, nationality, origin, religion or faith, education, beliefs, political affiliation, personal or public status, disability, age, sexual orientation, family status, property status, or any other grounds provided for by law or international treaties, ratified by the Republic of Bulgaria. The LPD also provides protection in the exercise of the right to work and in the right to education and training.

Non-discrimination in public contracts, grant loans, subsidies

Article 10 of the LPD provides that public authorities and local administrations shall, in the exercise of their powers, undertake all possible and necessary measures for achieving the purposes of the legal act, and therefore there is no obstacle to public authorities to enforce similar to the above-mentioned requirements. This is also valid in the award of contracts, grant of loans, provision of subsidies or other benefits.

Functioning of the Commission on Protection against Discrimination (CPD) (paragraphs 27-30)

The Bulgarian authorities would like to point out that the CPD is independent specialized national public body. The authorities aim to promote non-interference with the work of an independent public body. Separating independence from the full characteristics of "an independent specialized public authority" is essential for understanding the nature of the law and the implementing authority for its application, i.e. the Commission. The independence of the Commission is strengthened by the practice of the National Parliament regarding the amendments to the LPD. The amendments aim to achieve real independence in the operations of the Commission.

The independent nature of the Commission is also set forth in article 2, paragraph 1 of the Regulation on the Structure and Activity of the CPD.

Pursuant to article 41, paragraph 1 of the LPD the Commission is comprised of 9 members. At least four of them are lawyers. The National Assembly elects 5 of the members, including the chairperson and the deputy chairperson of the Commission, and the President of the Republic of Bulgaria appoints 4 of the members of the CPD.

Article 41, paragraph 3 promulgates diversity membership as a guarantee of sound and representative decision making. That is achieved through the principles of a balanced representation of men and women and inclusion of members from various ethnic minorities. One of the members of the CPD was appointed on a prior proposal made by a nationally represented organisation of people with disabilities. This diversity principle has been strictly observed since the beginning of the Commission's first term in office.

Hate speech

The Constitution contains an explicit prohibition for the setting up and operation of organisations whose activity is directed at incitement to racial, religious or ethnic animosity, or at violation of citizens' rights and liberties (article 44, paragraph 2 of the CRB).

Moreover, the Law on the Political Parties (LPP) follows the constitutional provision and considers hate incitement and propaganda when it provides for the establishment, registration, activity, control, financing and termination of political parties.

The Constitutional Court is charged with the enforcement of these anti-hate provisions related to political parties. Pursuant to article 149, paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 5 of the CRB shall pronounce itself on any disputes concerning the constitutionality of the political parties and associations. The control on the grounds of article 11, paragraph 4 of the CRB and on the grounds of article 6, paragraph 2.

Article 40, sub-paragraph 1 of the LPP provides for the dissolution of a political party in proceedings before the Sofia City Court. Judgement No 7 of 1992 of the Constitutional Court expressly points out that the dispute on the constitutionality of a party does not cover the prohibition under article 44, paragraph 2 of the CRB, which means that the latter is also within the powers of the Sofia City Court.

Following the amendments to the CRB in 2006, Members of Parliament may be prosecuted for offences at public law solely on authorization from the Parliament. Authorization for commencement of criminal proceedings is not required in case of a written consent of the Member of Parliament concerned (article 70, paragraphs 1 and 2 of the CRB). (Suppl. 3)

The Bulgarian institutions have undertaken consistent public diplomacy measures to promote tolerance and informational awareness towards the refugees and asylum seekers. The President Mr. Rosen Plevneliev and the Prime Minister Mr. Plamen Oresharski have presented a joint declaration condemning the xenophobia and racial hatred, as a world phenomena. The aim of the declaration was to identify appropriate measures in combating these negative tendencies. Similar position against inciting hatred, xenophobia, violence and discrimination was expressed also by other politicians, the academic community, non-governmental organizations and the media.

The Ministry of Interior and the State Agency for Refugees take complex measures to provide adequate assistance to the asylum seekers with regard to registration, the processing of requests for international protection and the overall reception.

One of the court proceedings concerned was initiated against the two books of Volen Siderov, Member of Parliament and a leader of a parliamentary group: 'The Boomerang of Evil' and 'The Power of the Mammon'. The claimants consider that the books are used for "anti-Semitic propaganda, inadmissible in modern European societies". The complaints concern the reprinting and distribution of the two books as an illegal activity of a Member of Parliament and a leader of a parliamentary group.

The court has sent the case to Sofia City Prosecutor's Office, on the grounds of article 59, paragraph 4 of the LPD, for exercise by the competent prosecutor of the powers for initiation of criminal proceedings or refusal to initiate such proceedings, as the case may be.

Paragraph 34 contains a statement, according to which some Bulgarian politicians have sent strong message to the public that asylum-seekers are a menace and a burden for Bulgarian society. Provided that the recommendations of ECRI have a reference to the words of the Bulgarian Minister of Interior, Bulgarian authorities would like to point out that they are not cited correctly in the Report. The Report uses part of a statement made at a press conference after an emergency meeting of the Council of Ministers held on the 21st of October 2013 for the purpose of evaluating the situation and the risks caused by the increased migration pressure that Bulgaria experienced.

The exact quote in the document published by the Press centre of the Council of Ministers concerning the measures to be taken in order to bring under control the situation with the asylum-seekers is as follows: "There is no country that has benefited from asylum-seekers entering its territory". In the context of the document this statement relates to the impending financial expenses connected with the various activities surrounding the reception, taking care, and integration of asylum-seekers and minimizing the social risk for the country.

The Report sets out the planned activities aiming to deal with "the very serious challenge relative to the Bulgarian capacity, such as the arrival of sometimes more than 200 illegal immigrants daily. The Report also argues for the need of financial assistance from the EU amounting to \notin 6 million (the most important point and a title of the document), which was later approved and received.

The complex approach that the Bulgarian government adopted in order to deal with the influx of asylum-seekers was later positively evaluated by the European Asylum Support Office, the UN's High Commissioner for Refugees and the European Commission.

In relation to paragraph 37 of the Report it has to be mentioned that there is a statistic preserved by the police for every reported case of hate speech (a crime under article 162, section 1 and article 164, section 1 of the Criminal Code). Every reported case is entered into a working integrated information system, that is in under the supervision of the Ministry of Interior.

Racist and homo/transphobic violence

In relation to paragraph 51 of the Report as well as in line with the act of violence from November 2013 mentioned in this paragraph, it has to be said that the offenders have been discovered, charged and sanctioned by being held under arrest. On the 24th of July 2014 the case is sent to the Sofia City Prosecutor's Office with a recommendation that the perpetrators are put on trial.

In relation to paragraph 53 of the Report concerning the accident from the 20th of May 2011 in Sofia in front of the "Banya Basha" mosque, several pretrial proceedings were initiated.

In regard to the statements contained in paragraph 38 of the Report, the Bulgarian authorities would like to note that for the period from 01.01.2008 to 31.12.2013, 57 pre-trial proceedings in total were initiated and conducted under article 164 of the Criminal Code. 9 people were convicted with enhanced sentences.

Racism on the Internet and in the Media

The Law on Radio and Television (LRT) of 2002 stipulates the "inadmissibility of broadcasts which incite to hatred on grounds of race, sex, religion or nationality". The Council for Electronic Media (CEM) is an independent regulator. The Council's task is to supervise the activities of radio and television broadcasters for compliance with the Act. It has the right to sanction violations by issuing decrees ranging from imposing fines on broadcasters to revoking their licenses.

The Council for Electronic Media has the obligation to ensure that freedom of speech and right to information in a pluralist media environment are observed. The Council is careful not to impact the programme policy and editorial independence of the providers of media services and considers inadmissible the use of censorship.

In addition, this regulator monitors the compliance with the LRT. The law contains two texts with imperative requirements for broadcasts. The first is prohibition of inciting to "hatred based on race, sex, religion and nationality" (article 8, paragraph 1). The second deals with any attempts at "preventing the creation or provision for broadcasting of any broadcasts in violation of the principles of article 10 herein and any broadcasts inciting to national, political, ethnic, religious or racial intolerance..." (Article 17, paragraph 2).

Article 10, paragraph 1 describes the principles that must be followed by the providers of media services in pursuit of their business. Two of these, described in sub-paragraph 5 - "inadmissibility of broadcasts inciting to intolerance among citizens" and sub-paragraph 6 - "inadmissibility of broadcasts which incite to hatred on grounds of race, sex, religion or nationality", refer directly to the subject.

In addition to the regular monitoring the content of the broadcast radio and TV programmes for compliance with the above mentioned provisions, CEM officials carry out thematic observations (on conducted elections, protests in the country and reporting on the Syrian refugees issue).

Hate speech in electronic media is a priority in CEM's work. In this regard the regulator also issues and organises the following:

1. Opinions and declarations concerning hate speech

2. Public discussions

3. Working meetings with radio and TV operators and various professional organisations on specific supervision-related problems

4. It also sends written warnings to providers of media services in response to complaints filed by citizens regarding hate speech. Most often these are signals in relation to programmes broadcasted on "SKAT" and "Alpha" TV channels

5. Carries out a regular monitoring of the broadcast content in the Bulgarian media to check compliance with the above specified legal provisions. The Council has also carried out observations in relation to conducted elections, protests in the country, as well as in connection with broadcast materials on refugees. The main parameter of the observation was the use of "hate speech". Moreover, the Council monitors compliance with legal provisions for presence of discrimination elements in commercial broadcasts

6. CEM cooperates with governmental institutions, other authorities and nongovernmental organisations. In addition to forwarding signals, complaints and letters "by competence" to other commissions, it participates jointly with their representatives in various initiatives

Integration policies

Bulgarian authorities would like to provide information on the following:

The National Strategy of the Republic of Bulgaria for Integration of Roma People (2012-2020) (NSRBIR) was constructed, by an interdepartmental working group with the broad and active participation of representatives of Roma NGOs and organizations working in the field of Roma integration. The National Strategy was adopted with a Resolution of the National Parliament on March 1, 2012. Bulgaria is the only country that adopted the Strategy with a resolution of its supreme legislative body.

The National Strategy is in line with the National Reform Programme of the Republic of Bulgaria (2011-2015), which is prepared in accordance with the approved by the European Council in June 2010 Strategy "Europe 2020" and in accordance with the new tool for better coordination of economic policies within the European Union, the so called "European semester", and the National Action Plan for the "Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005-1015" initiative. The strategy adopts and incorporates in one strategic document the objectives and measures of the strategic documents in the field of Roma integration such as: Strategy for the educational integration of children and students from ethnic minorities; Health Strategy for disadvantaged people belonging to ethnic minorities, 2005-2015, and the National Programme for improving the living conditions of Roma people in the Republic of Bulgaria for the period 2005-2015.

National Council for Cooperation on Ethnic and Integration Issues (NCCEII) has the main responsibility to implement the policies in this area. The NCCEII Secretariat (NCCEIIS) coordinates the process of regional planning. A number of meetings were held with mayors, representatives of regional and local administrations in the country, representatives of NGOs, experts from the World Bank and UNICEF. Pilot planning in Sofia Region was conducted. The NCCEII Secretariat prepared Supporting Guidelines for regional planning, which were provided to the regional and municipal administrations. Local operational teams were formed, which included representatives of the regional and municipal government, the territorial structures of the state institutions; representatives of local communities and NGOs. Support and coordination of this process has been done through field visits to 10 areas where NCCEIIS experts worked together with the teams, which prepared the regional strategies and municipal plans for Roma inclusion.

As a result of this comprehensive process, in the period 2012-2013, 27 municipal strategies and 220 municipal action plans were prepared and adopted. Currently there are 28 regional strategies that will be operating until 2020.

Municipal plans are biennial, and are based on adequate analysis of the needs and specifics of the local communities. The plans for Roma integration are specific and they indicate which of the actions and measures which can be implemented with local financial resources and those which require with outside help.

Financing of these integration measures in the action plan comes from the national budget, EU funds (provided through operational programs) or from other donors. When reporting the implementation of their action plans for 2013, the municipalities state that they are actively working on national programs and various projects/schemes under operational programs and other donor programs in the fields of education, health, housing, employment. The information is included in the Report on the implementation of NSRI.

In 2014, planning on national and local levels for the 2014-2020 period has began (the second period of the Action Plan). It will cover the next programming period of the European Union for the financial support provided by the EU institutions. The NCCEII Secretariat again coordinates the process on national level.

A review of the lessons learned from the first period of planning has been done, and recommendations have been made for the next period. Again, it has been highlighted the importance of the participation of representatives of the Roma community and NGOs working in the field of Roma integration at every stage of the process - planning, implementation, monitoring and evaluation. NCCEII and the other organizations, which left the council in 2013, have been actively working together in the implementation of the regional planning process. The advisory body, its secretariat and the local administration, together with the NGOs that conduct field work within communities have combined their efforts. Representatives of these organizations, based on their activities in this area.

Since last year, six Bulgarian municipalities have been involved in a joint programme of the European Commission and the Council of Europe ROMED2/ROMACT, which aims to increase the capacity to act both of local institutions and of the Roma community. The NCCEII Secretariat has promoted the launch of the program and maintains active relations with the relevant bodies within the Council of Europe and the European Commission. Cooperation is also evident from the fact that pilot action plans to 2020 will be developed in following six municipalities - Varna, Shumen, Sliven, Tundzha, Maglizh, Byala Slatina.

In addition to the national budget, the European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) will support the implementation of the National Strategy of the Republic of Bulgaria for Roma Integration (2012-2020). The implementation of regional strategies and municipal action plans for Roma integration will be provided primarily through the funding of integrated projects. The municipalities and Roma stakeholders will be the main beneficiaries. The projects will be designed to improve access to employment, education, quality health and social services. Measures will be taken to build tolerance for ethnic differences. That will lead to promotion of the cultures of the different ethnic groups.

Each regional administration has a separate Unit for Monitoring and Evaluation with clear, specific tasks and responsibilities. The important role of the units for monitoring and control was noted. The core of the main team the Unit for Monitoring and Evaluation consists of 6-8 people - representatives of the regional government, experts from the local administration, NGOs and others. The participants in the Unit for Monitoring and Evaluation usually have service or employment contracts in these organizations. Their new responsibilities for coordination and monitoring activities and evaluation of regional planning and execution are regulated with an order from the employer concerned and must be included in the job descriptions.

Under the current system for monitoring and control, information at the municipal, regional and national levels is collected by experts in the relevant departments and is summarized at the NCCEII Secretariat. The progress achieved in 2013 on implementation of the strategy by the responsible institutions has been reported in the Administrative Monitoring Report. Currently the report is presented to the National Parliament for adoption. The reports on areas with adjacent municipalities are also attached to it. Progress has also been reported to the European Commission.

The Secretariat of NCCEII has been defined as a beneficiary for the next programming period under OPHRD. The Secretariat will build an improved functional electronic system for monitoring and controlling the implementation of the National Strategy of

the Republic of Bulgaria for Roma Integration 2012-2020. The system will include information on municipal, regional and national levels within a unified information platform. It will perform accumulation, aggregation, data processing, which will improve the process of tracking and analyzing the results, and will contribute to the more effective evaluation of the implementation of integration policies on all levels. Performance measurement is an extremely complex and difficult process that will last years.

The National Strategy of the Republic of Bulgaria for Roma Integration (2012-2020) is also supported by projects and programs funded under the Economic Mechanism of the European Economic Area and the Norwegian Financial Mechanism, as well as under the Bulgarian-Swiss Cooperation Programme.

The activities of the Interdepartmental Working Group for resource support of Roma integration with EU funds, is aimed at supporting municipalities in terms of choice of schemes and operations to support the implementation of the action plans. The Interdepartmental Working Group on resource support to Roma integration with EU funds operates under the Commission for Implementation of the National Strategy, which was formed under the National Council for Cooperation on Ethnic and Integration Issues.

Policies for the integration of Roma people and disadvantaged people from other ethnic groups are an integral part of the national policy.

The National Strategy is applied in the framework of the overall policy of combating poverty and social exclusion. The strategic objective is clearly stated - creating conditions for equal Integration of people from other ethnic groups, including Roma people, or any other Bulgarian citizens in socially and economically vulnerable position. These conditions are created by providing equal opportunities and equal access to rights, benefits, goods and services, participation in all public areas and improving the quality of life in accordance with the principles of equality and non-discrimination.

Policy of the authorities on integration of refugees

The State Agency for Refugees (SAR) operates an Integration Centre which is directly engaged with the implementation of a National Programme for the Integration of Refugees.

The Integration Centre works in close cooperation with governmental institutions such as the Ministry of Labour and Social Policy, the Employment Agency, the Ministry of Education and Science, the State Agency for Child Protection, local administrations, and Sofia Municipality. It partners with non-governmental organisations for exchange of information and coordination in the field of employment, education and social integration of foreigners who have received international protection.

The Integration Centre:

• Supports the integration of foreigners who have received international asylum in Bulgaria by organising and delivering appropriate training and social orientation. Help is provided with professional qualifications, work referrals and other activities related to the integration of foreigners who have received international asylum;

• Carries out programmes for social protection and integration of foreigners with special needs and cooperates in social assistance and health care;

• Organizes and carries out activities for cultural adaptation of foreigners who are seeking or have received asylum; organizes sports and health and educational activities.

Integration activities aim to create conditions for complete accomplishment of foreigners who have received asylum and provide opportunities for development of their personal potential and active participation in the economic, social and cultural life of the Bulgarian society.

For the purpose of children's integration, pedagogical consultations on the rights of children refugees are held, including unattended minors. Refugee parents get acquainted with the Bulgarian culture and education. Work is done for their social inclusion in the Bulgarian environment by organising intercultural activities. These activities include the participation not only of refugee children and their parents but of Bulgarian children as well. Special attention is paid to studies and development of educational curricula and projects related to the education of the children refugees at Bulgarian schools.

An emphasis in the integration of refugees is put on their Bulgarian language skills. There are language courses for both children and adults. Highly qualified teachers provide the language training. The education is based on a curriculum approved by the Ministry of Education and Science (MES). After completing the course with duration of 600 academic hours, the refugees sit an exam before a commission and receive a certificate. The purpose of the children's training in Bulgarian is to enable them to become part of the Bulgarian educational system, to acquire language skills and gradually overcome the negative effects of their interrupted education. After completing the course, children sit an exam at the Regional Inspectorate of Education to determine the level of their knowledge in order to enrol them in a Bulgarian school.

Foreign minors seeking asylum or having received asylum may continue their education under the terms and procedure applied for Bulgarian citizens. For children studying at Bulgarian schools a day-care opportunity is provided. Regular meetings are held with the parents of children who are regular students at Bulgarian schools to clarify the rights and obligations of the students. Working meetings with the faculty staff are a regular practice, aimed at their inclusion in the educational system and prevention of early dropout of children from school.

In accordance with projects of non-governmental organisations, activities are organised for 5 to 16-year-old children and extracurricular education is provided in major subjects taught at school.

Jointly with the MES new curricula and standardized tests in Bulgarian have been developed, combined with for training refugee children. Training aids in accordance with developed and approved curricula are provided. The Integration Centres provide additional training in Bulgarian aimed to facilitate access to the educational system for refugee children who are to attend Bulgarian schools.

An expert from the Integration Centre assists with the translation and legalisation of diplomas of completed academic degrees by country of origin.

Foreigners who have received international asylum have full access to the vocational training provided at the Integration Centre. The training completes with a final exam and receiving a Certificate of Vocational Training.

The Centre operates at full capacity and professions are aligned to the attitudes and interests of foreigners. Many of those remaining in the country get jobs based on the acquired qualification. The financially stable ones start their own small business.

Foreigners who have received international asylum in Bulgaria have equal rights to Bulgarian citizens in regards to their access to the labour market. No direct or indirect discrimination is allowed in the exercise of their employment rights, based on nationality, origin, sex, sexual orientation, race, colour, age, political and religious beliefs, family, social and financial status and psychological and physical disabilities. According to the Employment Promotion Law foreigners who have received international asylum in Bulgaria may work in the country without a work permit.

The Integration Centre of the SAR assists the refugees' job search. It holds consultations for motivation and information about the choice of a profession. Foreigners who are registered as unemployed are entitled to all vocational orientation services offered by the Labour Offices directorates.

To facilitate foreigners' access to employment, the SAR together with the Council of Ministers works in close interaction with the Employment Agency and has signed an agreement on joint work (2011). As a result of this agreement labour exchanges are organised, providing opportunities for direct contacts and negotiation between refugees and employers.

To enhance refugees' employability the Ministry of Labour and Social Policy has developed and is about to implement, through the Labour Office directorates, a programme for training and employment of persons who received international asylum in 2013 and 2014 and who are registered with the Labour Office directorates. This group of unemployed persons is among the vulnerable groups in the labour market because the problems they face in finding jobs are specific, i.e. not knowing Bulgarian enough, not having documents of completed education and/or vocational qualification, not having any record of service and experience. The programme will ensure inclusion in Bulgarian language training for 200 persons, acquisition of vocational qualification for 100 persons and subsequent subsidised employment for 100 unemployed persons.

Based on the experience and good practices of other member states, the National Integration Strategy for Individuals Granted International Protection in Bulgaria (2014-2020) was adopted on 4 July 2014.m. The Strategy is focused on the refugees from vulnerable groups - unaccompanied minors and women. The Bulgarian authorities provide training for the minors in Bulgarian language and other subjects as well as courses in social orientation and cultural adaptation. The minors also receive social services, such as legal consultations.

Topics specific to Bulgaria

Training in racial discrimination issues

Intensive trainings of magistrates for the purpose of proper enforcement of antidiscrimination law (paragraph 83)

In accordance with the Programme of the National Institute of Justice and the internal programme of the prosecutor's office of the Republic of Bulgaria regular training is provided in subjects related to enhancement of the qualification and specialisation of prosecutors. The purpose of that training is to improve the efficiency of investigation of discrimination-based offences. For the period from

01.01.2008 to 31.12.2013, 205 prosecutors and 50 investigators were trained in the above-mentioned subjects.

In accordance with the duties from the Memorandum of Understanding between the Ministry of the Interior and the OSCE Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights of 2012, a two-staged training in preventing, discovering and investigating hate crimes was held at the Academy of the Ministry of the Interior. The training involved employees from the Capital Directorate of Interior as well as employees of the Regional Directorates of the Ministry of Interior. The persons, who were trained in this program, were investigators as well as employees of low enforcement agencies.

During the first stage of the training (training of instructors) issues concerning social diversity, the definition, variations and consequences of hate crimes, as well as the legal framework for regulating hate crimes, and the role of the police in preventing hate crimes, were discussed. Special attention was paid to the dangerous nature of hate crimes, and their negative impact on society.

Everyone who participated in this stage of the training received a special handbook for instructors on hate crimes, written in Bulgarian.

During the second stage of the training the instructors held many training sessions on a regional level. During the training the instructors explored issues such as the term "hate crime", the law in this area (article 116, section 1, subsection 11 - committing murder or bodily harm for racist or xenophobic reasons - and article 131, section 1, subsection 12 - crimes against citizen equality and crimes against the freedom of religion).

In January 2014 an independent evaluator sent from the EU assessed positively the training program.

In the context of the policy of training employees of the Ministry of Interior in protection of human rights, with an emphasis on anti-discrimination measures, a note should be taken of the ISEC project "European Police and Human Rights", which was successfully completed in 2013 and benefited the National Police Directorate, Ministry of Interior and its international partners - the police in Baden-Württemberg, and the Federal Police of Warsaw and the Belgian Federal Police.

This project involved drawing up of a methodology and a handbook for the training of instructors in protection of human rights, entitled "Police without discrimination". They were translated into English, German, French and Polish. The project also involved a series of training seminars on a regional level.

Functioning of the Commission for Protection against Discrimination (CPD)

In relation to the Commission's recommendation contained in paragraph 90 of the Report, Bulgarian authorities would like to note the following:

In compliance with article 40, paragraph 4 of the LPD the Commission opened additional offices in regional cities, staffed with regional representatives.

At present the Regional Representatives Directorate functions within the CPD. The directorate is comprised of 21 employees. There is 1 director and 20 regional representatives who hold the position "chief expert".

The CPD has 21 regional offices opened as follows:

2008 - in Plovdiv, V. Tarnovo, Vidin, Montana, Burgas, Dobrich, Razgrad, Sliven and Lovech

2009 - in Vratsa, Kardjali, Silistra, Shumen and Gabrovo

2010 - in Pazardjik, Stara Zagora and Varna 2011 - in Blagoevgrad and Ruse 2012 - Pernik 2013 - Smolian

The CPD intends to open seven more offices and to appoint regional representatives. The goal is to cover all 28 regions in the country. The CPD is making best efforts to find premises in the respective regional cities for the new offices. The CPD has sought the assistance of the regional governors of Sofia, Yambol, Pleven, Kyustendil, Targovishte, Haskovo, and Sofia City for procurement of offices.

At present one regional representative works in each operational office. In 2012 and 2013 the CPD participated as an employer under a European project "New Beginning - from Education to Employment" of the Employment Agency with the Ministry of Labour and Social Policy and under the national programme "Career Start". For a period of six months, under the European project, 12 young people were employed in 12 regional offices to support the work of the respective regional representative. The project ended at the end of July 2013.

Under the "Career Start" programme in the period from 01.11.2013 the CPD appointed 19 young employees to work in 19 regional offices for a term of 9 months, supporting the work of regional representatives.

The integration of Roma children into mainstream schools

Creating conditions for equal treatment and adaptation of Roma children and students to the educational environment is a priority of the Ministry of Education and Science, the regional inspectorates of education and municipalities. The following measures are being taken to this end:

- Exercising control on kindergartens and schools to prevent the existence of groups and classes based on ethnicity.
- Providing specialized help to the students from school psychologists and pedagogical counsellors in order to facilitate the mutual adaptation of Roma and other children to the new educational environment.
- Carrying out activities in kindergartens and schools for building positive attitudes to the educational integration of Roma children.
- Conducting workshops and other forms of parent education in order to remove negative stereotypes and build tolerant relationships.

The regulations of kindergartens, schools and supporting units and the job descriptions of pedagogical experts and non-pedagogical staff contain provisions and clauses for ensuring a tolerant attitude to the children from ethnic communities and creating a favorable school environment.

The Strategy for Reducing the Share of Early School Leaving (2013 - 2020) was adopted in 2013. It provides for policies and key measures for prevention of early school leaving and for offsetting its effect. Implementation of the strategy will contribute to reducing the number of early school leavers. The aim is to reach rates of below 11% by 2020. Other objectives include reducing social exclusion, enhancing the quality of the labour force and the well-being of individuals. Ensuring access to education and enhancing the quality of education for children and students from vulnerable ethnic communities is one of the policies and key measures for preventing early school leaving as set out in the Strategy.

By Order No RD 09-1887/21.12.2013 of the Minister of education and science a working group has been set up and a plan has been developed for the implementation of the Strategy for Reducing the Share of Early School Leaving (2013 - 2020) by 2015.

The Bulgarian authorities have certain reservations to the objectivity of statistics contained in paragraphs 94 and 95 of the Report.

Within its records the MES does not gather information based on ethnicity;

The NSI does not gather statistics on the specified characteristics for the community concerned (from the specified statistics it is not clear whether the statistics refer to children aged 3 to 6 years, 4 to 6 years or aged 3-4 to enrolment in grade one). In fact the NSI has no annual statistics (excluding the census) from gathering ethnicity based data.

Bulgarian authorities are aware of two studies dealing with the problems of school enrolment and attendance in combination with family environment (incl. ethnicity based statistics - "Reasons for children dropping out of school" and "Lost Future? A research of the phenomenon of children left outside of the school system". Both were commissioned by UNICEF, the first research was carried out by "Vitosha Research" and the second one was conducted by Open Society Institute. Both studies, however, do not consider the group of the smallest children and the studies are based on earlier period data.

The statistics of 81.5% for 2011-2012 astonishingly matches the NSI statistics on the "Group net rate of enrolment of the children in kindergartens - total" for the same school year (*Table - Edu_1.2.1.xls at address*, *http://www.nsi.bg/bg/content/3422/групов-нетен-коефициент-на-записване-на- децата-в-детските-градини--общо-за-страната*).

It is not logical to have the enrolment rate statistics on Roma children that high at this stage and drastically dropping below the normal rate for the country at all the other stages. In fact, if the figures are true, this would mean that the Roma children have no problem with pre-school attendance.

Refugees and asylum seekers

Bulgaria adheres to the principle of non-refoulement laid down in the Charter of Fundamental Human Rights of the European Union, the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, the UN Convention relating to the Status of Refugee, the Schengen Borders Code and other EU secondary legislation acts.

All border control check points (BCCP) are open around the clock. Any person may apply to Border Police authorities to request asylum in Bulgaria and receive adequate information on his or her rights.

Any person may file an application for asylum at the border orally, in writing or otherwise (with gestures) and if it is necessary an interpreter/translator or expositor is provided. Any discrimination based on sex, race, nationality, ethnicity, citizenship, origin, religion or faith, disability, age, sexual orientation, family status is prohibited.

The procedures for receiving asylum in Bulgaria are explained to every person in printed information materials in different languages provided by UCHCR, SAR and BHC, as well as by an interpreter/translator assisting with the completion of the application for asylum in Bulgaria. Most of the interpreters/translators are naturalized citizens from the countries of origin of the migrants and asylum applicants. Thus they receive additional information from persons who originate from their or similar nationality, ethnicity or culture, in an accessible language and in an accessible way, about their right to receive asylum.

Like other Member States who have faced particular pressure from mixed migration and asylum flows, the Bulgarian government applies a complex and balanced approach for addressing the difficult situation. A key element in this approach is the implementation of the obligations under the EU legislation and the international legal instruments in the field of fundamental rights and asylum, including the principle of non-refoulement.

Bulgarian authorities appreciate the fact that, in writing the paragraph of the Report concerning the situation with the asylum-seekers in Bulgaria, ECRI have taken into account its comments regarding the improvements in the conditions in the reception centres in Bulgaria.

It should be very clearly stated that the border with Turkey is not "closed". All border crossing points are open and accessible. The border control has been strengthened, inter alia by the deployment of additional police officers and technical equipment, in line with the Schengen catalogues and the integrated border management model of the EU. The objective is to prevent illegal migration and in the same time to encourage the asylum seekers to use more orderly and safe routes.

As part of the comprehensive approach, after thorough analysis, the competent Bulgarian authorities decided to construct a temporary fence along a 30 km section of the border with Turkey, which represents just 12 per cent of the whole Bulgarian-Turkish land border. The need and the objectives of this construction have been explained in details to the European Commission in a letter from 22 October 2013, as well as to the Turkish side, in order to avoid any misunderstandings or wrong interpretations. The purpose of the construction of the temporary fence is to facilitate border control but equally important to minimise the risks related to border crossings by redirecting the migration flows to other parts of the common border. The terrain in this section of the border is very rugged which significantly limits the visibility of the surveillance equipment and the border patrols. As a result, the capability of the Border Police to react in possible emergency situations is also restricted. In these circumstances it is crucial, especially during the winter season, to consider the safety of the persons crossing the border. No funding by EU or other donors was used for the construction of the fence.

The Bulgarian government pays the necessary attention to the integration of the third country nationals receiving international protection. Based on the experience and good practices of other Member States, the National Integration Strategy for Individuals Granted International Protection in Bulgaria (2014-2020) was adopted on 4 July 2014. The Strategy is focused on the refugees from vulnerable groups - unaccompanied minors and women. The Bulgarian authorities provide training for the minors in Bulgarian language and other subjects as well as courses in social orientation and cultural adaptation. The minors also receive social services, such as legal consultations.

The Bulgarian government uses the experience and the best practices of other EU Member States. In the preparation of strategic documents international organizations, NGOs and local authorities are involved.

The national integration policy envisages a clear distinction between the functions the different stakeholders, establishing a working coordination mechanism, provision of the necessary financial recourses, communication campaigns on supporting the integration. The education institutions - schools, universities, institutes and academies are actively involved in the integration policy. Refugees graduated in Bulgaria are being employed, in order to support and facilitate the integration of the newly arrived. Being familiar with the Bulgarian language and culture they play the role of social mediators.

Policies to combat discrimination and intolerance against LGBT persons

Although effective, the Bulgarian Criminal Code does not expressly contain a provision specifying sexual orientation/sex identity as an aggravating circumstances motive in committing the various types of offences and in determining the punishment. However, the general provisions of the Criminal Code apply and the court takes into consideration, *inter alia*, the motives for committing the crime (article 54, paragraph 1). That includes the potential sexual orientation and sex identity as a motive. If it is ascertained that the motive for committing a given offence is sexual orientation/sex identity, in all cases this is considered as an aggravating circumstance.

A new provision in the draft Criminal code is under deliberation. That provision is planned to deal with incitement to hostile acts and hatred related to sexual orientation or sex identity through speeches, in the press or through other mass media, including electronic information systems.

Additional Statistics

The Bulgarian authorities would like to draw attention to the Statistics on the number of complaints received by the Commission for Protection against Discrimination in relation to discrimination based on race, citizenship, ethnicity, religion and sexual orientation and the outcomes of the cases.

Indicator> Year V	Race	Ethnicity	Citizenship	Religion	Sexual orientation	Faith	Belief
2012	1 - 1	52 - 37	6 - 4	7 - 1	2 - 0	1 - 0	10 - 5
2011	4 - 4	48 - 43	9 - 9	4 - 4	9 - 8	0 - 0	3 - 2
2010	1 - 1	35 - 35	8 - 8	0 - 0	3 - 3	1 - 1	3 - 3

Sofia, September 2014